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          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to the Finance Committee hearing on the

          4  Mayor's Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2008. My

          5  name is David Weprin, I chair the Council's Finance

          6  Committee.

          7                 This morning's budget hearing will be

          8  held jointly with the Council's Education Committee,

          9  Chaired by my distinguished colleague on my

         10  immediate right, Council Member Robert Jackson, to

         11  hear testimony pertaining to the proposed budgets

         12  for the City's Department of Education, and the

         13  School Construction Authority.

         14                 Before we hear from the specifics on

         15  the Department of Education's budget from the

         16  Department of Education and the School Construction

         17  Authority, let me just say that I'm very happy that

         18  as a result for the Campaign for Fiscal Equity

         19  decision, the State has finally agreed to give New

         20  York City a bite of the apple.

         21                 In its 2006/'07 budget, the State

         22  agreed to provide 50 percent of its share of

         23  Department of Education's 13.1 billion five-year

         24  capital plan for Fiscal '05 through '09. The City

         25  will now receive 1.8 billion in State aid, and an
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          2  additional 9.4 billion in Transitional Finance

          3  Authority borrowing, half of which will be paid for

          4  by State Building aid.

          5                 These two sources of capital support

          6  represents the State's full $6.5 billion share of

          7  the City's five-year capital plan for capital

          8  construction.

          9                 The children of New York City deserve

         10  and are entitled to a great education and the City

         11  Council will continue to fight to ensure that they

         12  get just that.

         13                 We still have a long way to go, as

         14  Chair Jackson can attest, since he was there at the

         15  beginning, but this is a start.

         16                 After we hear from the Department of

         17  Education and the School Construction Authority, we

         18  will be joined by the Council's Committee on General

         19  Welfare, Chaired by Council Member Bill DeBlasio, to

         20  hear from the Human Resources Administration and the

         21  Department of Social Services.

         22                 In the afternoon, the Committee on

         23  Finance and General Welfare will be joined by the

         24  Council's Committee on Women's Issues Chaired by

         25  Council member Helen Sears, to hear testimony for
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          2  the Administration for Children's Services.

          3                 Prior to adjourning, we will be

          4  hearing from members of the public who would like to

          5  testify regarding any of these agencies.

          6                 Before I turn the mic over to my

          7  co-chair, I'd just like to introduce the members

          8  that are here.

          9                 We have in the front, Council Member

         10  Jessica Lappin from Manhattan, Council Member Vinnie

         11  Ignizio from Staten Island, Council Member Diana

         12  Reyna from Brooklyn and Queens, Council Member Lew

         13  Fidler from Brooklyn, Council Member Maria del

         14  Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx, Council Member John

         15  Liu from Queens, and I'm going to turn it over to

         16  the Chairman of the Education Committee Robert

         17  Jackson.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you, Chair

         19  Weprin. Good morning, everyone. My name is Robert

         20  Jackson, and I chair the Education Committee.

         21  Welcome to our Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget hearing,

         22  held jointly with the Finance Committee.

         23                 Today we will hear testimony from the

         24  Department of Education, the School Construction

         25  Authority, regarding the Fiscal 2008 Executive
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          2  Budget and the February of 2007 proposed amendment

          3  to the Children First 2005-2009 five-year capital

          4  plan.

          5                 The proposed amendment consists of

          6  three main categories. One, school improvement and

          7  restructuring allocations, commonly called SIRA,

          8  which entails restructuring school improvement for

          9  existing schools creating of new partnership and

         10  charter schools, and specialized capital investment,

         11  such as computer labs and technology.

         12                 Two, new capacity projects that

         13  create seats in new and existing schools.

         14                 Three, capital improvement projects,

         15  commonly called CIPs, which consist of exterior and

         16  interior building upgrades, mandated programs and

         17  other necessary repairs to the current building

         18  stock.

         19                 As we will soon be entering Year No.

         20  4 of the current five-year capital plan, the

         21  Committee is looking forward to hearing about the

         22  significant progress that has been made in these

         23  categories along with projects that might have to be

         24  moved from this capital plan to the next five-year

         25  capital plan. The February 2007 proposed amendment
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          2  funding includes 13.1 billion in original funding,

          3  along with $350 million in funding from the City

          4  Council and Borough Presidents.

          5                 Today we will examine the Department

          6  of Education and School Construction Authority's

          7  progress with this current five-year capital plan.

          8  The Council must act on the current amendment to

          9  this plan by the end of the fiscal year which ends

         10  June 30th in accordance with legislation passed by

         11  the State in 2002.

         12                 The New York City public school

         13  system manages approximately 1,500 school buildings

         14  and support facilities including transportables and

         15  lease facilities for school population of more than

         16  1 million in pre-K through grades 12.

         17                 We will now hear from the

         18  representatives from the Department of Education and

         19  the School Construction Authority. Thank you, Chair

         20  Weprin.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

         22  morning, Chair Jackson, Chair Weprin, and members of

         23  the Committees on Education and Finance. My name is

         24  Kathleen Grimm, I'm Deputy Chancellor for Finance

         25  and Administration at the Department of Education.
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          2                 I am joined today by Sharon

          3  Greenberger, who is President of our School

          4  Construction Authority, and Jamie Smarr, who is my

          5  special assistant, and who also serves as Executive

          6  Director of the Education Construction Fund.

          7                 We are pleased to be here today once

          8  again to discuss the Department's Capital Budget

          9  with you.

         10                 We are, as the Council Member said,

         11  in the third year of our now fully funded $13.1

         12  billion Five-Year Capital Plan. And very little has

         13  changed since we testified before you in March. With

         14  the verification of State funding, we have been able

         15  to move forward on the Design and Construction

         16  Capacity and Improvement Projects across the City,

         17  which will yield thousands of new seats and millions

         18  of dollars worth of building upgrades and much

         19  needed repairs to existing structures.

         20                 As we do every year, we conducted our

         21  annual DCAS surveys where we send architects and

         22  engineers out to all of our schools to look at and

         23  rate the needs for repairs and upgrades.

         24                 We also did our annual demographic

         25  projections again this year. In addition to the
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          2  Grier Report, we collected data on birth rates,

          3  immigration rates, housing starts and the like from

          4  the Departments of Health and City Planning and

          5  other agencies.

          6                 We have been watching population

          7  shifts in Brooklyn, Manhattan and the Bronx. Some

          8  school districts show a decrease in our school age

          9  population over the next five to ten years, while

         10  other districts show an increase.

         11                 This year we adjusted the plan based

         12  on these population shifts, and this is reflected in

         13  the current amendment which is before you.

         14                 I want to reemphasize that the plan

         15  has in no way been cut. There are still 66,000

         16  seats, 63,000 new seats and 3,000 replacement seats

         17  for capacity to meet our goal of eliminating

         18  overcrowding and the TCUs.

         19                 One of our major recent

         20  accomplishments is finding locations for all the

         21  high school seats we need to build to eliminate

         22  overcrowding in the Bronx, Brooklyn and Staten

         23  Island. In fact, at this point we have identified

         24  sites for over 46,000 of the overall new need seats.

         25                 As part of our annual process we made
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          2  presentations to the Community Education Councils,

          3  parent and community groups and elected officials,

          4  including many of you. This year we trained the

          5  CECs, and asked them to provide us with their top

          6  CIP priorities and we were able to including some of

          7  their suggestions in the February revised amendment.

          8                 As you all know, this plan is an

          9  ongoing process and we will continue to look at

         10  suggestions on how to improve the process each year.

         11                 I would like to call the Council's

         12  attention to two new elements in this amendment.

         13  First, it reflects the City's adoption of a green

         14  building's law, Local Law 86, which took effect in

         15  January. We have finalized our revised building

         16  standards which incorporate the requirements of the

         17  City's green schools rating system. This means that

         18  we will build schools that conserve energy and water

         19  that reuse and recycle materials and that otherwise

         20  encourage environmental responsibility.

         21                 We commit to exceeding the

         22  requirements of Local Law 86 by meeting green

         23  standards, not just for 50 percent of the projects,

         24  but for all applicable projects.

         25                 We are proud that New York City will
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          2  be among the first districts and the largest school

          3  district in the nation to have sustainable school

          4  guidelines enforced by law.

          5                 We applaud the Mayor and the Council

          6  for enacting this important legislation.

          7                 Also new in this amendment is the

          8  inclusion of Educational Construction Fund projects.

          9  The ECF is the public benefit corporation that was

         10  created in 1967 by the State Legislature to build

         11  school seats for New York City public schools.

         12                 ECF works with private developers to

         13  build schools on City-owned land that are in mixed

         14  use projects. In ECF projects the developer agrees

         15  to pay the entire cost of funding the new school

         16  construction in exchange for being able to develop

         17  the balance of a municipal site. Thus, the cost of

         18  the school building is not born by the City's

         19  capital funds.

         20                 ECF adds to the capacity of the

         21  school system to build new seats. As such, ECF

         22  projects are for the first time included as part of

         23  the capital plan as new seat capacity production.

         24                 The ECF funding mechanism also allows

         25  us to build replacement seats, providing students
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          2  with new state-of-art facilities. ECF has been

          3  dormant in New York City for decades, but the first

          4  developer-financed school since 1979 is now under

          5  construction on the Upper East Side in Manhattan.

          6                 As many of you know, we have

          7  tremendous difficulty here in New York City funding

          8  suitable sites for schools. Sites for schools need

          9  appropriate space and size and need to meet

         10  stringent environmental safety standards.

         11                 Because of the limited availability

         12  of proper and safe school sites, we need to be

         13  innovative in finding space in order to build seats

         14  we need to reduce overcrowding in a timely way.

         15                 We find that leasing is another way

         16  that has allowed us to bring seats on line

         17  expeditiously.

         18                 We expect that approximately

         19  one-third of new school facilities will be created

         20  under this plan through leases, and our ability to

         21  create seats in under-utilized parochial schools,

         22  for example, has happened through leasing. It has

         23  been a key component of our efforts in this plan.

         24                 Once again, the overriding goal in

         25  this plan is to eliminate overcrowding and to
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          2  support the Department's instructional goals, with

          3  such improvements such as new science labs,

          4  technology upgrades, smaller learning communities,

          5  pre-K expansion and reduction of class size.

          6                 You have all heard me say many times

          7  that we are committed to managing this plan, so to

          8  best keep it aligned with our instruction goals and

          9  needs. That is why we committed to amending the plan

         10  each year. It is why we do annual building surveys

         11  and demographic projections. It is why we seek

         12  comment and input from the CECs, the panel and all

         13  elected officials.

         14                 Aligning this capital budget with

         15  instructional needs and managing the plan on a

         16  year-by-year basis did not happen prior to this

         17  plan.

         18                 Feedback from the CECs parent and

         19  community groups and elected officials has been

         20  helpful in shaping our direction. Now that we are

         21  halfway through this plan, it is time to begin to

         22  think about our priorities for the next capital plan

         23  and we look forward to working with you and all

         24  stakeholders as we move forward.

         25                 We also look forward to answering
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          2  your questions, but first Sharon Greenberger is

          3  going to give us a presentation on the progress

          4  under the current plan.

          5                 Thank you very much. Sharon.

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: Thank you very much.

          7                 We do have copies of this which will

          8  be passed out as well. Good morning, and thank you

          9  for providing us the opportunity to give you an

         10  update on the capital plan. This first slide gives

         11  you an overview again of where the --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Greenberg,

         13  can you hold on a second, please, until the members

         14  have it in their hands, if you don't mind?

         15                 MS. GREENBERGER: Sure. Absolutely.

         16  Yes, I was given a brief hard time for not having

         17  children who are wearing yamikas, and I explained

         18  that the children are sitting in sukas.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, I'm sorry.

         20  Go ahead, please.

         21                 MS. GREENBERGER: Again, the full

         22  funding for this plan is 13.5 billion, including all

         23  the dedicated funding, and this gives you an

         24  overview of how those resources will be allocated

         25  across the three primary plan categories. 3.7
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          2  billion goes to restructuring school space, 4.5 goes

          3  to new capacity and 5.3 goes to investing in

          4  existing assets, which is the CIP program.

          5                 This gives you an indication of how

          6  much has been spent to date. The second slide shows

          7  you what was spent in FY '05, and again in FY '06,

          8  and the third slide shows you what we anticipate to

          9  be spent over the next three years.

         10                 So, this year we're anticipating

         11  obligating 3.1 billion, next year another three, and

         12  finally over the plan 3.2, and it breaks down by

         13  category where those resources will go.

         14                 To date, for this fiscal year, we

         15  have awarded over 700 CIP projects, representing

         16  nearly $1 billion. We've also bid and awarded 11

         17  capacity projects, including Luperon, New Utrecht

         18  High School, and the very important Mott Haven

         19  Campus. We have also bid and awarded six lease

         20  projects, including Casita Maria, and we've also

         21  obligated other funds, including wrap-up insurance

         22  technology and our BCAS (phonetic) survey for total

         23  to date of $1.7 billion.

         24                 This next leg gives you an overview

         25  of seat opening through Fiscal Year. What we're
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          2  anticipating over the next several years --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you on page

          4  number five now?

          5                 MS. GREENBERG: I am on page number

          6  five, yes. Apologies.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thank you.

          8                 MS. GREENBERG: I'm on page number

          9  five and there should be a number on the corner.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 MS. GREENBERG: It's the chart that

         12  shows when seats will open over the next several

         13  years. So we anticipate opening 3,600 seats this

         14  fall, in September '07 and then over the next three

         15  to four years, you'll see more of those seats come

         16  on line as construction projects finish. Now, this

         17  is our anticipated seat opening calendar.

         18                 One of the things the Deputy

         19  Chancellor mentioned was the importance of leasing

         20  projects. This is a very important tool for us to

         21  meet our capacity goals. The original plan, in its

         22  amendments every year, anticipated that one-third of

         23  all new school facilities would be created through

         24  leases.

         25                 To date, 18 of 35 proposed lease

                                                            18

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  facilities are in process or completed. So, again,

          3  if we anticipated 100 new buildings, we anticipated

          4  that a third of those would be through leases, and

          5  about 18 of those have been cited or in

          6  construction.

          7                 Examples of some of the lease

          8  projects: Millennium High School was a lease

          9  project; Bathgate Complex in Bronx is another lease

         10  project. And having the ability to lease buildings

         11  to meet our capacity needs is very important because

         12  it provides the ability to create school seats very

         13  quickly and cost effectively. The Bathgate Complex,

         14  for example, was completed in 15 months. We're able

         15  to utilize vacant space, whether it's parochial

         16  schools or other vacant space, to really expedite

         17  the increase in capacity and to meet the very strong

         18  demands we have in certain areas.

         19                 It's also important because we do

         20  provide the same environmental due diligence

         21  equivalent to that for all new buildings. So, we

         22  follow the exact same protocols for environmental

         23  due diligence, whether it's a lease site or a new

         24  construction site.

         25                 It also gives us the opportunity to
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          2  secure sites quickly, to negotiate with landlords

          3  quickly, to ensure that they will set aside space

          4  for us and allow us to move quickly.

          5                 I want to just touch briefly on --

          6  I'm sorry, I'm on page eight now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          8                 MS. GREENBERGER: On three important

          9  components of this capital plan that I think are

         10  important to many people. One is the MWBE program,

         11  one is our environmental due diligence standards,

         12  and one, as the Deputy Chancellor mentioned, is our

         13  new Green Schools Guide.

         14                 First, in terms of MWBE commitments

         15  to date, and these numbers are as of May 1st, we

         16  have obligated $45 million to mentor and graduate

         17  mentor contract awards. Last year at this time we

         18  had bid and award 15 million, so we've seen a great

         19  increase this year, and that does not include the

         20  last quarter of FY '07, which is traditionally a

         21  very busy quarter.

         22                 Overall for the year, excluding the

         23  mentor and graduate mentor, we've awarded $269

         24  million in contracts to other MWBE companies. Again,

         25  at this time last year I think we were at $92
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          2  million, so we've seen a great increase this year.

          3                 One of the things that's very

          4  important to people is what we do in terms of our

          5  environmental due diligence. I'm on page ten. And

          6  this chart is really designed to give you an

          7  overview of how we exceed industry standards when it

          8  comes to performing environmental due diligences.

          9                 I'll just highlight a couple of

         10  things. Our standard, the SCA DOE standard, is to

         11  assess contaminants from on-site and off-site and

         12  all potential exposure pathways. Industry standard,

         13  and by industry standard I mean that for a

         14  commercial or residential development, is to really

         15  only look at the on-site condition. So, we do that,

         16  and then we do much more.

         17                 Similarly, our standard is to install

         18  soil gas vapor barriers that is not standard and not

         19  required by State and federal regulations.

         20                 And finally, as the Deputy Chancellor

         21  mentioned, this year we have seen the introduction

         22  of our New York City Green Schools Guide. We did

         23  write the Green Schools Guide to be in compliance

         24  with Local Law 86. Just to refresh your memory,

         25  Local Law 86 requires that we reduce greenhouse gas
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          2  emissions, that we encourage recycling, that we

          3  provide good indoor air quality, which is very

          4  important to schools and school communities, that we

          5  conserve energy and water and that we meet LEED

          6  certification, that's the Leadership and Energy and

          7  Environmental Design, requirement for all major

          8  projects.

          9                 We thought it was very important to

         10  create an alternate green building rating system. We

         11  worked very closely with the Mayor's Office and that

         12  system was approved by the Mayor's Office in

         13  compliance with Local Law 86, because Local Law 86

         14  applies to all buildings, all types. We are building

         15  one type of building, so we wanted to create a

         16  rating system that was really applicable to school

         17  buildings only.

         18                 Our standards, I'm sorry, the green

         19  building standards will allow us to control cost, as

         20  cost is always important, it will allow us to comply

         21  with our own design standards, and it allows us to

         22  meet the very important schedule requirements we

         23  have to open schools in September.

         24                 Again, the goals of green schools,

         25  I'm on page 14, if you're following, are to reduce
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          2  the operating costs, to promote a healthy

          3  environment, to teach environmental responsibility

          4  an clearly demonstrate our commitment to

          5  sustainability.

          6                 A couple other questions that come up

          7  with green design is how much more will green

          8  schools cost? We anticipate that we'll see an

          9  increase in school construction costs of five to six

         10  percent. Again, the law went into effect January 1,

         11  so we are currently designing new buildings that

         12  will incorporate these changes. They're not out to

         13  bid yet, but we anticipate that it will be about

         14  five to six percent increase. Those benefits

         15  include, again, the long-term operational savings,

         16  water conservation and a healthy environment.

         17                 So, with that, I think we are open to

         18  questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you,

         20  Ms. Greenberger. We've been joined by some more

         21  colleagues. We have our Minority Leader, Councilman

         22  Jim Oddo, from Staten Island, Council Member Mike

         23  McMahon from Staten Island, Council Member Helen

         24  Sears from Queens, Council Member Jimmy Vacca from

         25  the Bronx, Council Member Maria Baez from the Bronx,
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          2  Council Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn, Council

          3  Member Melinda Katz from Queens, and I think I

          4  introduced everyone. Council Member Gioia was here a

          5  minute ago, and I think I got everybody else.

          6                 Ms. Greenberger, on page three of

          7  your slide presentation, you talk about a total of

          8  3.227 billion of capital for Fiscal Year '09,

          9  however, I notice that as of this date, only 1.7

         10  billion of that commitment has been fulfilled, which

         11  would mean that actually you would have to undertake

         12  1.4 billion in school construction between now and

         13  June 30th. It's now May 15th. How is that possible

         14  and what's going to be happening over the next six

         15  weeks in that regard?

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's a good

         17  question. There are two factors, one is, these

         18  numbers were as of May 1. May and June are our

         19  busiest --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sorry, the next

         21  eight weeks.

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER: It gives us eight

         23  weeks. It's our busiest bid and award season. We

         24  have a number of very large projects, including very

         25  large capacity projects that will go out for bid and

                                                            24

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  award. We have a number of design projects that

          3  finish design in March and April and go out to bid

          4  at this time and will be bid and award. So, we do

          5  anticipate meeting that -- it's a 3.15 is actually

          6  our target for this fiscal year, Fiscal Year '07. I

          7  think you may have been looking at the '09 number.

          8  But we anticipate that we will meet that target.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Let us know if

         10  there is any problem in meeting that time frame.

         11                 I'm very happy to hear the

         12  substantial testimony both by Ms. Grimm and Ms.

         13  Greenberger about reducing class size, which as you

         14  know, has been a priority of this Council and

         15  something we have been pushing for for a very long

         16  time, and hopefully with this new program of leasing

         17  space, at least on a temporary basis, as well as the

         18  aggressive school construction plan, that that will

         19  be a reality of actually reducing class size,

         20  because we'll have more classrooms to put our

         21  students.

         22                 So, I'm optimistic about that and,

         23  you know, I think that's a very positive

         24  development.

         25                 I'm just going to cover one other
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          2  area and then I'll turn it over to my co-chair, and

          3  a lot of our colleagues have questions, so I don't

          4  want to monopolize the questions.

          5                 But funding for school improvement

          6  and restructuring allocation projects have been

          7  reduced by 750 million to help offset an increase in

          8  construction costs.

          9                 What SIRAP, or School Improvement

         10  Restructuring Allocation Projects, were affected by

         11  this reduction?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We were able

         13  to maintain our commitment to the 22 campuses where

         14  we had very large populations and we are converting

         15  them, closing the big schools, we're not meeting the

         16  standards and opening the others, and that's a very

         17  important part to us.

         18                 We did have to make, in response to

         19  the escalation of cost, we did have to make some

         20  tough choices, and what we did was try to maintain

         21  commitments to things that we felt had to come

         22  first.

         23                 For example, science labs. We are not

         24  only maintaining our commitment, we are increasing

         25  our commitment by $150 million on the theory that
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          2  our children have to have science labs if they're

          3  going to pass State Regents, which are now mandated.

          4                 Some of the other projects would be

          5  playground renovations, various things that are

          6  wonderful things to do, but we just didn't feel had

          7  the priority at this moment.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Fair enough.

          9                 Getting back to class size, can you

         10  give us an update specifically on the plan to reduce

         11  overcrowding in grades K to three in particular? And

         12  you still expect to reach that goal by the end of

         13  the plan?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes,

         15  absolutely. We will reduce class size from 25 to 20

         16  in all K to three classrooms.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: By what year?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: When the

         19  plan is complete, when the projects from the plan

         20  are complete, which I believe is 11, 2011.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Again, I

         22  want to reiterate the Council's strong feeling on

         23  that in particular, and we're happy to see an

         24  agreement, particularly emphasis on the early

         25  grades, because as we all know, those are the
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          2  formidable years and what often happens in the early

          3  years will affect children, adults, much later in

          4  life, so we're happy to see, you know, making that a

          5  priority.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We also made

          7  a change with regard to pre-K. The plan originally

          8  included two pre-K classrooms in each new school. We

          9  have adjusted that to three new pre-K in every new

         10  building, and we've allotted $5 million a year to

         11  add bathrooms in current facilities so that we can

         12  convert regular classrooms to pre-K classrooms. So,

         13  that will increase our pre-K capacity.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very good. I'm

         15  going to turn the mic over to my co-Chair Robert

         16  Jackson.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thanks, Chair

         18  Weprin. Good morning. Let me just ask one or two

         19  quick questions, hopefully they will be quick, and

         20  then open up to my colleagues that are anxious to

         21  answer questions, I guess, concerning this hearing

         22  and more specifically some of them may ask about

         23  their particular districts as part of the five-year

         24  capital plan and the amendment.

         25                 But the proposed February amendment
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          2  is supported with $6.5 million in State funding

          3  secured through CFE agreement announced on April

          4  24th, 2006. 2006 or 2007? I think it's '06.

          5                 It appears this funding was used to

          6  fully fund the current plan but hasn't specifically

          7  addressed the class size reduction issues that were

          8  central to the CFE.

          9                 How much of the State funding has

         10  gone to the capacity reduction projects so far?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         12  don't distinguish State dollars from the City

         13  dollars in the capital plan. What we have done, from

         14  the original plan, we have always committed to

         15  reducing class size in K through 3, as we just

         16  discussed. And we have added the pre-K. This is the

         17  capital money. We also have the operating money,

         18  which for the first time this year is flowing

         19  through, and as you know, one of the buckets, in

         20  terms of the spending categories for that money is

         21  class size reduction, and so we would anticipate as

         22  we drive more money to the schools, that principals

         23  will be using some of that operating money either if

         24  they have the space and they have the human capital,

         25  in terms of teachers, to reduce class size, or they
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          2  will use other instructional intervention, such as

          3  pushing teachers and what have you, to reduce the

          4  ratio.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, my

          6  understanding, and correct me if I'm wrong, that

          7  when you talk about class size reduction, even

          8  though now you're including, I believe the, correct

          9  me if I'm wrong, that the Contract for Excellence

         10  calls for, requires the Department of Education to

         11  include continuous class size reductions in grades,

         12  I believe it's pre-K through 12th grade in

         13  low-performing and overcrowded schools; is that

         14  correct? Beginning in this coming school year,

         15  2007/2008?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         17  That's on the Expense side.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But regardless

         19  of whether expense or not, when you talk about class

         20  size reduction, you're talking about reducing the

         21  number of students in a classroom and then you have

         22  to have the physical capacity in order to do that,

         23  correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes,

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, I want to

          3  know whether or not, is that part of your plan and

          4  where is it mentioned in your plan, as far as the

          5  Five-Year Capital Plan specifically? How does the

          6  Department plan to comply with this new regulation?

          7  I have not heard, correct me if I'm wrong, but I

          8  have not heard that addressed in this plan, even

          9  though, you know, part of the operating expense, but

         10  you have to have the physical capacity in order to

         11  do that.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         13                 This capital plan always contemplated

         14  from the beginning reduction of class size in grades

         15  K through three, and that's what the $13.1 billion

         16  plan addressed, and that $13.1 billion plan was

         17  financed in 2006 with the agreement with the State

         18  in terms of the Excel money and the additional

         19  borrowing power for the City.

         20                 The Contract for Excellence deals

         21  with the operating dollars and the agreement that

         22  was reached this year with the Legislature, between

         23  the Legislature and the Governor and the City. So,

         24  those expense dollars, some of them will be directed

         25  toward reducing class size, and it will be up to
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          2  pretty much principals on how to do that.

          3                 Some principals will have the space

          4  capacity, and will have the human capital capacity

          5  of teachers because reducing class size has two

          6  prongs to it. You have to have the physical space,

          7  you have to have the adequate teaching capacity.

          8                 So, we anticipate that some

          9  principals will make the choice to spend those

         10  dollars to reduce class size. Other teachers who

         11  perhaps don't have the space, the physical space,

         12  will elect other interventions, such as pushing

         13  teachers, so that they will be reducing, not the

         14  class size, but the ratio of teachers to children,

         15  so it will depend a great deal on what principals

         16  choose to do.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But the State

         18  Legislature, I don't think that's the way to handle

         19  business, to leave it up to the principal to

         20  determine whether or not they're going to be in

         21  compliance with what the laws, the Contract for

         22  Excellence says. You know to say that the

         23  principals, it's up to them to decide on whether or

         24  not to reduce class size is not up to them. It's a

         25  mandate on New York City to reduce class size and
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          2  have the capacity to do that.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I did not

          4  mean to imply that we were leaving it up to our

          5  principals --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's what you

          7  clearly said, it's up to the principals.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:-- The

          9  ability not to comply with the law. They have to

         10  comply with the law.

         11                 As you know, there are several

         12  buckets involved in the Contract for Excellence, and

         13  principals will have to spend these dollars in line

         14  with what the Legislature mandated.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And who is going

         16  to be monitoring that they do that appropriately?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We will be

         18  monitoring our budgets as we always do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who? I'm just

         20  curious. I just want to follow the logic as far as

         21  you're saying, that principals are going to, you

         22  know, have the authority in order to comply with the

         23  Contract for Excellence in order to reduce class

         24  size, as per the mandate of pre-K through 12, and so

         25  some will have the capacity and space --

                                                            33

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- To actually

          4  reduce class size. And others, as you gave an

          5  example, will have push-ins. Push-ins is not class

          6  size reduction. You know that?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's just

          9  dealing with the needs of the students within an

         10  overcrowded classroom. That's not reducing class

         11  size. And, so, I would disagree that that is part of

         12  reducing class size.

         13                 So, I guess my question is, I heard

         14  what you said, I make the assumption, and correct me

         15  if I'm wrong, that the superintendents, or whoever

         16  is responsible for principals, part of their

         17  obligation and the obligation of central staff at

         18  DOE is to ensure compliance.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         20  Absolutely.

         21                 Ultimately, as you know, the

         22  community superintendent is responsible for the

         23  principal, but my staff particularly --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are they really,

         25  because I don't know who is going to be responsible.
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          2  I thought that depending on who they are, you know,

          3  in certain capacities they'd be reporting to

          4  different people.

          5                 Help me out, because I'm not very

          6  clear as to who do they directly report to and hold

          7  directly accountable for everything that occurs?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They will be

          9  held accountable by the community superintendent.

         10  Each principal will select a school support

         11  organization that will not supervise them but will

         12  support them, in terms of their instructional needs.

         13                 And my staff, particularly in the

         14  newly-created ISC, the Integrated Service Center, is

         15  staffed with budget folks, and they will be

         16  assisting principals supporting them but also

         17  watching in terms of making sure the dollars are

         18  being spent appropriately.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I say to

         20  you that, as I said in opening to the question that

         21  class size reduction is one of the main pillars of

         22  CFB, and especially as the Chair of the Education

         23  Committee on behalf of all of the parents out there

         24  that have children in overcrowded classrooms, that

         25  this is an extremely important issue for the
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          2  constituents of New York City to reduce class size

          3  overall.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Understood.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And in order to

          6  reduce class size, you have to have the capacity to

          7  do that and also the will to get it done at the

          8  levels that decisions have to be made.

          9                 So, I will be following up clearly on

         10  this when it comes to the expense part, when I

         11  believe --

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Next week.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Next week.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fine.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, I would like

         16  to have some more detail as to what the game plan is

         17  in order to achieve that goal, because I think that,

         18  let me just say that push-ins is not the resolution

         19  that parents are seeking.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Understood.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let's turn to

         22  the list, Chairman Weprin, please.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes. Council

         24  Member Ignizio.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you

                                                            36

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  very much.

          3                 Thank you, Chancellor.

          4                 Let me first open by thanking my

          5  colleagues at the State who, it goes without saying,

          6  without their support for this capital plan, we

          7  wouldn't be here as proud to serve in that body when

          8  we did pass this legislation, and I think it's a

          9  great thing that we had bipartisan and statewide

         10  support for this plan.

         11                 That being said, and I did want to

         12  dovetail on the comments made by the Chair with

         13  regards to class size reduction, you know, I have

         14  been the victim, if you will, of people questioning

         15  motives, of nefarious or political expediency behind

         16  my pushing class size reduction. But the reason I do

         17  so, Madam Deputy Chancellor, is because I was one of

         18  those students that could have gone either way. I

         19  wasn't the straight A student. I was the one who

         20  needed a teacher that, you know, went behind my back

         21  and said, you're doing this wrong, you're doing this

         22  right, or just simply shut up. And I personally

         23  believe that with lower class size reduction we're

         24  going to be able to get those kids who are on the

         25  fringes behind, you know, doing well in life and
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          2  becoming a City Councilman, which I know some may

          3  question whether that's well or not, and/or ending

          4  up, you know, in some other career that doesn't

          5  really allow them to take full advantage of their

          6  assets. So, I just want to throw that on the table.

          7                 With regards to capital construction

          8  as a whole, I'm getting some interesting requests of

          9  things like electricity in my schools. Now,

         10  understandably so, I recognize some principals and

         11  PTAs requesting electricity upgrades because they

         12  want air conditioners, and I appreciate that fact,

         13  but in some instances I'm getting requests for

         14  electricity from my own capital budget that are just

         15  not working properly or that potentially are

         16  hazardous and dangerous conditions. A byproduct of

         17  which I guess would allow them to install air

         18  conditioning, which, just so you know, I am opposed

         19  to Council members, myself included, I will not be

         20  funding air conditioners in my district, I think

         21  that ought be a systemwide upgrade should the DOE

         22  decide to do so.

         23                 But that being said, things like

         24  electricity, things like security intercoms that

         25  don't work anymore, does the school construction
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          2  part of the DOE have any plan, implementation plan

          3  to upgrade electricity, to upgrade intercom systems

          4  systemwide?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We do have a

          6  plan. The difficulty is, as the Mayor says, the

          7  needs are overwhelming and we have $13.5 billion.

          8  So, it doesn't address all needs.

          9                 What we do is every year we survey

         10  our schools and we look at systems, just like

         11  electrical systems, and grade them across the City,

         12  and the plan addresses all of those that are graded

         13  five, which is the worst condition, as opposed to

         14  one, which would be good condition.

         15                 Principals should speak to their

         16  space planner if they have particular needs. I know

         17  they also speak to their Council representatives and

         18  have been very successful --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: And

         20  rightfully so.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Of course,

         22  in getting money. But I mean, if they do have a

         23  condition, we also should be aware of it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Sure.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I mean, we
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          2  try to be, we do the annual inspections, we have

          3  facilities people in the schools every day, of

          4  course, but you should always urge them to speak

          5  with their space planner, and also to make sure --

          6  we have tried very hard to encourage principals to

          7  know when the BCAS survey is taking place, and we

          8  have been very firm with the contractors that they

          9  must speak to the principals, and if they don't, we

         10  send them back, because that's the moment for the

         11  principal to have input on the systems, and because

         12  the needs are so great, safety hazards are fixed no

         13  matter what anybody's opinion is, that just gets

         14  done. But you could have, I mean, many of our

         15  buildings are very old, you could have several

         16  systems that could all use an upgrade but none is,

         17  you know, in imminent peril of collapsing, and in

         18  that case, the principal should tell us which one

         19  she wants us to spend our limited dollars on. So we

         20  urge principals to get involved in that process.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: With regards

         22  to security, intercom, that type of thing, you guys,

         23  the intercom systems that are no longer working, SCA

         24  in my opinion ought look at some type of wireless

         25  system that would make it substantially less money
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          2  than the million-one, million-two that I have been

          3  requested for intercom upgrades?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Do you want

          5  to talk about that?

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think the BCAS

          7  survey also looks at intercom systems and we do

          8  consider that to be a system that needs to be

          9  upgraded if it's in disrepair.

         10                 We're always looking at new

         11  standards. Again, cost is always an issue and we

         12  have to take that into account. But if people have

         13  specific ideas as to what would be beneficial, we

         14  would be happy to look at them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay. Well, I

         16  intend on forwarding you a letter with regards to

         17  what is ongoing in questions regarding security or

         18  hazardous electricity, not just overall I want air

         19  conditioning, if you can be receptive to that.

         20                 And a final plug, I think I'm Johnny

         21  2 Note in terms of the K to 12 complex in

         22  Charleston, which the School Construction Authority

         23  has 16 acres set aside for. It's my hope to

         24  potentially begin a design within this capital plan

         25  and hopefully have it funded in the next capital
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          2  plan. I just wanted to put that on the table.

          3                 Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman, and Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Concerning Mr.

          6  Ignizio's comments and questions, if the wiring and

          7  intercom system in the school is not working, and it

          8  needs to be replaced, what level would that be, as

          9  far as one being the least and five being the worst,

         10  what level would that be? An existing school where

         11  the intercom system is not working at all?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That would

         13  be up toward the five.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Up toward the

         15  five. So, it could be possibly a four?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I'm

         17  not an architect or an engineer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm saying, you

         19  guys know the categories better than anyone else.

         20  Right now you're only dealing with level fives and

         21  some level fours, and I'm just trying to find out

         22  whether or not that would be at the top level of

         23  major repairs that have to be done, as far as CIP.

         24  That's a CIP, isn't it?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Somebody clarify

          3  for me, where would that be at, please?

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think what we're

          5  saying is the intercom systems are one of the

          6  systems we look at. Sometimes systems, if they're

          7  not working fully they would rate a four or five.

          8  There are other times, and this happens often, when

          9  you have pieces of the system that may not be

         10  working that are simply maintenance issues, and we

         11  would work with DSF, Division of School Facilities,

         12  to make sure that those are fixed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you just

         14  pull your mic up a little bit more, Ms. Greenberger?

         15                 MS. GREENBERGER: Sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Please.

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: If you have very

         18  specific schools that have these problems, you

         19  should let us know and we'll make sure someone takes

         20  a look at that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And so, for

         22  example, any of the requests that have come to him

         23  or any other Council member, they should be able to

         24  go on line and look and see whether or not that's

         25  included in the five-year capital plan.
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          2                 Would it show what level it is, for

          3  example, if it's reported in the five-year capital

          4  plan?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They can

          6  look at the Capital Plan, they can also look at the

          7  BCAS study for their school.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Which they

         10  have access to, and to see if it's included. And if

         11  it isn't, we'd like to know. We'd like to know

         12  because should the BCAS vendor have picked it up?

         13  And if they should have then we want to know that

         14  for the future. And if not, you know, maybe it's an

         15  educational issue we have with the principal in

         16  terms of being more involved in the BCAS study.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Who

         18  is next, David, please?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, we've been

         20  joined by Council Member Dan Garodnick from

         21  Manhattan, and Council Member Bill DeBlasio from

         22  Brooklyn. The next questioner is Council Member

         23  Jessica Lappin.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.

                                                            44

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 Good morning.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

          4  morning.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: I chair the

          6  City Council's Land Use Subcommittee that approves

          7  the siting of new public schools, so I have one

          8  question that's related to that, and then one

          9  question related to the Grier Report.

         10                 The question in terms of leasing, I

         11  think you mentioned that you're planning to have

         12  one-third of the new schools be leased space. Is

         13  that a policy change? Is that consistent with what's

         14  happened in the past?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, in the

         16  past the Department didn't have a policy of leasing.

         17  In this plan from the beginning we were persuaded

         18  that we had to be a little more creative, because as

         19  you know, finding a location for a school is very

         20  difficult, particularly in some communities. And

         21  this was actually a suggestion that the EPP has put

         22  forward for a long time, so we decided that we would

         23  actively try to lease buildings if that would help

         24  us, and it has. So, this plan made an assumption

         25  that we would lease sites for one-third of the
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          2  schools.

          3                 It was really a best estimate, a

          4  target that didn't mean we absolutely wanted to go

          5  out and rent for one-third of the schools, but that

          6  we were totally open to site selections, either

          7  rentals or purchase.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And what's the

          9  length typically of a lease?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Twenty

         11  years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And those go

         13  through the exact same ULURP process?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And

         16  environmental assessment process?

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: They don't go

         18  through the ULURP process. They go through the same

         19  environmental due diligence process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So, in terms

         21  of a leased school, versus an acquisition of a site,

         22  and our potential input, is it the same, or it's not

         23  the same?

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's not the same.

         25  It's not the same because schools that go through
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          2  the ULURP process go through the public review and

          3  come through your Committee, schools that go through

          4  the leasing process do not.

          5                 We do, however, go through the exact

          6  same environmental due diligence. We work with the,

          7  what will now be the community superintendents and

          8  the community boards and others in trying to

          9  identify sites, and letting them know about sites

         10  that we're looking at, but we do not go through the

         11  formal review process.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So the Council

         13  will not have approval over lease sites?

         14                 MS. GREENBERGER: The Council has not

         15  had approval over lease sites.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay. So, that

         17  is an interesting potential policy change, in fact,

         18  if one-third of the new schools will not be subject

         19  to our review.

         20                 MS. GREENBERGER: We have leased sites

         21  in the past, there have been leased buildings and

         22  other plans. As the Deputy Chancellor said, in this

         23  particular plan, given the extraordinary need for

         24  seats and given the speed in which we wanted to

         25  identify those sites, we have used that ability more
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          2  so in this plan to identify sites quickly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.

          4  Although, I think recently I pointed out a parochial

          5  school in the East 90s that was shutting down, and

          6  even through a leasing process the Department didn't

          7  move quickly enough, another private school swooped

          8  in and scooped it up before the Department had an

          9  opportunity, I think? Is that incorrect? I see

         10  somebody shaking their head.

         11                 MS. GREENBERGER: I don't know the

         12  specifics of that. I do know we have a very

         13  aggressive real estate team and we work with outside

         14  brokers who work very quickly to secure sites when

         15  they're presented to us. And we've had actually

         16  very, very good luck I think in parochial schools,

         17  and working with the Diocese to secure those sites.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Manhattan

         20  would be the Archdiocese. We're in conversations

         21  with them about potential leases.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Good.

         23                 I just wanted to touch for a moment

         24  on District 2, and shift in the plan to ask, you

         25  know, or really to point out we're having this
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          2  massive population explosion, as the Grier Report

          3  pointed out, 25 percent projected growth, which is I

          4  think pretty massive growth. We have three new zip

          5  codes coming to the east side, which is just one

          6  indication of the fact that the population is

          7  exploding, and our schools are way, way, way over

          8  capacity. You know, PS 290 has a capacity of 400 and

          9  has 672 enrolled; PS 183 has capacity of 510, over

         10  600 kids enrolled. And as the Chairman was pointing

         11  out, they've lost library rooms, computer rooms,

         12  auditoriums, all to class space. So, I don't know if

         13  even those numbers reflect how dire the situation

         14  is, but I wanted to ask how quickly new facilities

         15  will be built to accommodate this explosion in

         16  population?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         18  have, as you know, a number of projects going on in

         19  District 2. Not only through the School Construction

         20  Authority but also through the ECF, the Education

         21  Construction Fund, for both new capacity seats and

         22  some replacement seats.

         23                 One of the difficulties about

         24  buildings is that it takes time, and what we will be

         25  doing is first of all, monitoring the population
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          2  each year. I mean, it's part of what we do in this

          3  amendment process. And look forward to the new

          4  capital plan also, in terms of addressing the issue,

          5  if that becomes necessary.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Well, I know

          7  that there are a couple of education construction

          8  projects that are in the pipeline that I've been

          9  working with Jamie on, but I just would point out

         10  that people are getting panicked because the schools

         11  are so overcrowded in operating at such levels of

         12  over-capacity that they're becoming really panicked,

         13  and I know that it takes a long time to find the

         14  site, build the school, get to a point where there

         15  is a new school opened. So, I don't know if there

         16  are any other alternative possibilities including

         17  leasing space, even in the short term, but I can't,

         18  you know, sort of ask more strongly that we start to

         19  consider, and we've got more than 200 kids over

         20  capacity in a building, and that's, you hit sort of

         21  a scary point, so I hope --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We're happy

         23  to work with you going forward on that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          3                 We have some special guests in the

          4  gallery. From the State of Kentucky, we have Asbury

          5  College here. We would like to give them a nice warm

          6  welcome.

          7                 What you're witnessing here today is

          8  a Finance Committee and Education Committee budget

          9  hearing, an oversight of the school capital plan for

         10  the school system in New York City. So, enjoy the

         11  proceedings and that we have a large surplus, partly

         12  due to all the money that people like coming from

         13  Kentucky spend right here in New York City, so

         14  continue to spend and enjoy the wonderful things

         15  that we have to offer in New York City.

         16                 The next questioner is Council Member

         17  Mike McMahon.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. Good morning, Deputy Commissioner

         20  (sic).

         21                 Two issues I'd like to touch on. In

         22  my district we had a hearing on the middle schools,

         23  the Speaker's Task Force on Middle Schools had a

         24  hearing and the issue that prevailed was really

         25  behavior, security, discipline, safety I guess is
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          2  the best word, safety. I have four large middle

          3  schools in my district, how do we get security

          4  cameras in there to help the people who are running

          5  the schools have a better handle on the safety

          6  concerns?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We do have a

          8  project underway in this capital plan to install

          9  cameras, and I don't have a list of the schools but

         10  we can sit down and talk to you about that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We're

         13  working very closely, as you know, with the New York

         14  City Police Department on this.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, I do, and

         16  as I say, they're sort of the genre of massive

         17  middle schools with, you know, thousands of kids,

         18  and there are safety concerns in the buildings,

         19  outside the buildings, and, again, teacher after

         20  teacher, parent after parent, this was a number one

         21  concern. And I just think from a capital

         22  prescription, if you will, that's something that we

         23  can do. So, I will follow up with your office to see

         24  how we can get those in there.

         25                 I was happy to hear you mention that
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          2  high school overcrowding in Staten Island, as well

          3  as two other boroughs, is a major concern of yours.

          4  Since I've been in office, Curtis High School in

          5  particular, at 175 percent capacity, by your

          6  numbers, and as you know, we always rail that -- we

          7  think the numbers are actually higher because you're

          8  counting spaces that maybe shouldn't be.

          9                 But the point is, if you say 175

         10  percent, we say even higher. Port Richmond High

         11  School, also dangerously overcrowded.

         12                 At the same time, one-third of the

         13  schools in the City are being established through

         14  leasing. There is no initiative like that on Staten

         15  Island, there is no real initiative as we sit here

         16  to deal with Curtis High School and Richmond High

         17  School. What are we going to do to alleviate these

         18  problems in Staten Island?

         19                 MS. GREENBERGER: Well, I think we

         20  just broke ground on IS HS 44, which when complete

         21  will reduce some of that overcrowding, and based on

         22  our demographic projections, which we do update

         23  annually, as the Deputy Chancellor indicated, we

         24  continue to see a decline, actually, in school aged

         25  population, so while we are experiencing
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          2  overcrowding, I think through the addition of new

          3  capacity projects and through the continued

          4  reduction in school age population, especially

          5  Staten Island, we will have the capacity to meet the

          6  demand for seats in the area.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Wait. I'm

          8  confused. You mean the 44 Annex, the new school.

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER: 43. No, no, no. I

         10  got the number wrong. It's 43.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right. But

         12  43, I think it's a total of 500 high school and 500

         13  middle school?

         14                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's six through 12

         15  school. I don't know the exact number of seats, but

         16  it is ISHS, correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I mean, that

         18  is a far distance from Curtis High School and Port

         19  Richmond High School, and I just don't think that

         20  that is going to relieve the problem that we face.

         21  It's not even close.

         22                 The Deputy Chancellor spoke to high

         23  school overcrowding in Staten Island, Tottenville

         24  High School is way overcrowded. That one initiative

         25  is not going to solve the problem.
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          2                 MS. GREENBERGER: Well, just to

          3  clarify, it's a 1,600-seat high school. It's not

          4  500, it's 1,600 seats, six through 12. And again, I

          5  think our indications are that --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, that's

          7  high school and middle school, not just high school.

          8                 MS. GREENBERGER: Correct. Six through

          9  12.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right. But

         11  that is not going to solve the problem at Curtis

         12  High School and Port Richmond High School.

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: Again, I think if

         14  you look at our demographic projects, which is

         15  supported by what we're seeing as declining

         16  enrollments over time, we anticipate that the number

         17  of children in the seats --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, the

         19  declining enrollments will take Curtis High School

         20  from 175 percent to 100 percent?

         21                 MS. GREENBERGER: Again, it's the

         22  combination of declining enrollments and other

         23  capacity in the area that we're looking at.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Why is there

         25  no initiative to do leasing on Staten Island?
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          2                 I mean, every other borough, a third

          3  of the schools in the City are being leased, going

          4  through leasing initiatives. We presented a very

          5  good location at the teleport, a building that could

          6  be up and running in a year, yet there is no

          7  initiative like that. The initiative for New Vision

          8  Schools, for new High Schools, whatever you want to

          9  talk about, the Borough is incredibly underserved in

         10  that area. And all you keep saying is, to deal with

         11  the problem in Tottenville High School, New Dorp

         12  High School, Port Richmond High School, Curtis High

         13  School and Susan Wagner, it's all going to be

         14  alleviated by, at most, 1,000 seats at the new

         15  school. The numbers aren't there. Curtis High School

         16  alone by your math is overcrowded by 800, 900 seats.

         17  And yet all the initiatives, all the initiatives

         18  that you speak to, we have none, except the one new

         19  school that you mentioned, the 43.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         21  haven't done leasing in Staten Island because we

         22  have been fortunate enough to find the sites that we

         23  need. If we needed a site, and it makes sense to

         24  lease in Staten Island, of course we would. I think

         25  the dialogue we are having, and I say dialogue
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          2  because it is a conversation that we will continue

          3  to have, is that right now, between the seats we are

          4  adding in Staten Island that what our demographic

          5  data are showing is, we are going to reduce

          6  overcrowding in Staten Island.

          7                 Now, we're going to watch it, we're

          8  going to redo the demographics every year, come back

          9  and have this conversation, but at this point we

         10  think that based on the numbers we have met the need

         11  there.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, Curtis

         13  High School, which is at 175 percent, how and when

         14  will it go down to normal capacity, to acceptable

         15  capacity? What's the plan?

         16                 Just throwing out the school miles

         17  away, and a questionable prediction of --

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it's a

         19  fair question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: -- Population

         21  reduction. Because I don't know anybody from Staten

         22  Island who thinks that the population is reducing or

         23  that the school age is reducing. I don't know where

         24  that is, because the Staten Island I come from

         25  there's more people every day and more children
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          2  every day.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And I don't

          4  ever mean to sit here and say, well, the data show

          5  this and so it's got to be right. Because the data

          6  are at this level, and we have to really look at

          7  district levels and school levels. And why don't you

          8  let us get back to you on Curtis, as a specific

          9  example, and we'll continue to talk.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I appreciate

         11  to continue that dialogue. Thank you.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just say

         16  that as someone that has gone to Staten Island many

         17  times, I would tell you loud and clear that the

         18  parents and residents of Staten Island do not

         19  believe that the reduction -- that the schools are

         20  going to be slowly getting to capacity at an

         21  acceptable level within the next few years. They

         22  don't see it. And, so, not only -- I would request

         23  that you have a meeting with the representatives

         24  from Staten Island to go over the specifics as far

         25  as so they could try to see where you're coming
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          2  from?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because quite

          5  frankly, it's not seen by the representatives and

          6  it's not seen by the parents. And in essence, what

          7  it comes down to is that it doesn't matter what you

          8  say representing DOE, they don't see it. And as Mike

          9  said, when school is at 175 percent capacity, it's a

         10  legitimate question to ask is, when is under your

         11  plan, that high school going to be at 95 percent

         12  capacity, in essence when? Is it going to be a year

         13  from now, three years, five years or ten years? And

         14  I say to you, if it's five years from now, that's

         15  not acceptable. That's not acceptable to them, it's

         16  not acceptable to us.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I look

         18  forward to the conversation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, please.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Gioia.

         22                 Council Member Liu? Council Member

         23  Liu.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. I want to thank the Deputy Chancellor and
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          2  Ms. Greenberger and the whole DOE team for joining

          3  us today.

          4                 I just wanted to go over these

          5  numbers for the anticipated capacity, according to

          6  this chart here.

          7                 So, when we say anticipated capacity

          8  created, does that mean the actual, that includes

          9  all the lease seats, am I correct?

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes, it does.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And it includes

         12  strictly new seats that currently don't exist.

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: This is part of the

         14  63,000 seats, correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. I mean, if

         16  you ad up all these numbers, it's about 63,000. So,

         17  but all of those 63,000 seats are seats that

         18  currently do not exist.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, they

         20  are new capacity seats.

         21                 MS. GREENBERGER: Except if you're

         22  looking at it, you can see the number that have been

         23  brought on line.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. Right. I

         25  mean presumably, everything through September '06,
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          2  it's already there. All right.

          3                 And, so, this does not include, I

          4  mean the Office of New Schools in a hearing about

          5  two months ago claimed that they had added 11,000

          6  seats, which clearly was not the case.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We talked

          8  about this I think the last time, when the Office of

          9  New Schools --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I just want to

         11  make sure that those numbers aren't included in the

         12  63,000.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct,

         14  because they're apples and oranges.

         15                 There are some things not included in

         16  the 63,000, though that are worth talking about.

         17                 This chart reflects the 63,000 new

         18  capacity seats that this current capital plan is

         19  opening up for us.

         20                 In the same period we've opened up

         21  other seats.

         22                 We have seats that were completed

         23  based on the prior plan. We have seats that we

         24  reclaimed from administrative spaces where we took

         25  offices when we first got here and converted them to
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          2  classroom seats.

          3                 So, we have many more capacity seats

          4  coming into the system, but not necessarily through

          5  this plan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So the

          7  answer is a very simple no, the Office of New School

          8  seats are not included in these numbers.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Because the

         10  Office of New Schools does not create seats. They

         11  fill seats.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Then you should

         13  direct them to be clearer in their testimony.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They create

         15  new schools, and they fill seats.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, existing

         17  seats.

         18                 Now, in these leasing arrangements,

         19  first of all, I think it's generally good that the

         20  Department is trying to get these seats on line as

         21  quickly as possible. So, to the extent that there is

         22  space available to be leased, we should pursue those

         23  channels. Now, how do the lease payments, which

         24  presumably are paid every month, or perhaps every

         25  quarter, perhaps even every year, are those capital
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          2  expenditures? Can we use capital funds to lease

          3  space?

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER: They are not capital

          5  expenditures. They're operating expenditures.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, they --

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER: They're lease

          8  payments. There's capital that may be put into the

          9  buildings to outfit the buildings, and that's a

         10  capital expenditure, but then the ongoing lease

         11  payments come out of the operating budget.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. So, to

         13  outfit the buildings for use as school space, those

         14  expenses are included in the capital plan?

         15                 MS. GREENBERGER: That's right, those

         16  are capital expenditures.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But the rent

         18  payments, the lease payments are paid for out of

         19  operating funds?

         20                 MS. GREENBERGER: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: What's the order

         22  of magnitude of those, that the annual amounts being

         23  paid for these leases?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

         25  that with me but it is a number we can get you very
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          2  quickly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes, but, are we

          4  in the range of 5 million or 50 million a year?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

          6  know. I'll have to get it for you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. And

          8  then finally, Deputy Chancellor, I think it was very

          9  informative, your testimony about the ECF. So,

         10  you're saying that ECF projects are for the first

         11  time included as part of the capital plan, as new

         12  seat capacity production. What do you mean by first

         13  time? Like we haven't done this in past years?

         14                 MR. SMARR: Sir, the last ECF project

         15  actually was brought on line in 1979.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         17                 MR. SMARR: And the capital plan did

         18  not exist then. So, the new seats that are being

         19  created by ECF projects are naturally being included

         20  in the capital plan structure now.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         22                 But this testimony says that the

         23  buildings, or the school seats being created through

         24  ECF do not require City funds.

         25                 MR. SMARR: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: How does that get

          3  included in the five-year capital plan.

          4                 MR. SMARR: Well, the statutory

          5  authority of ECF, it was an entity that was created

          6  specifically to create new seat capacity for schools

          7  not using City capital funds. So I think it's

          8  natural that any buildings that were created under

          9  that entity would in fact be included in the capital

         10  plan.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Look, I mean,

         12  that sounds like a great thing. So, are you saying

         13  then that our five-year school construction capital

         14  plan is not actually $13.1 billion but it's

         15  substantially more?

         16                 MR. SMARR: That amount would be

         17  increased by the value of the seats being brought on

         18  line through the private developers, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So --

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If I could

         21  just clarify that?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The dollar

         24  amount does not pass through the plan, because the

         25  dollars for the schools that are conducted are paid
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          2  for by the developers. The beauty of it is we don't

          3  have to use taxpayers' money to build these schools.

          4  But what we have included in the capital plan for

          5  the first time is the count of the seats. Because we

          6  said, well, if we're adding capacity to the system,

          7  it's all one system, so let's count those seats, and

          8  that frees up the dollars we would put towards those

          9  seats for other projects in the plan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right, that's

         11  true. I mean, there's two kinds of values. There's

         12  the value of the seats, how much it would cost the

         13  City, the School Construction or the DOE to build

         14  the seats themselves, and how much the developer is

         15  given, in terms of economic accommodations. I mean,

         16  they're being given -- a developer wouldn't do

         17  anything on a City-owned site, unless it was of

         18  value, there was some kind of value being provided

         19  to the developer. So, there has got to be some kind

         20  of value being placed on the site. You could use

         21  either kind of measure, either the measure of how

         22  much it would cost the City to do it themselves, or

         23  how much value is actually being given to the

         24  developer, allowing them the use of the City, or

         25  giving them use -- giving them outright the
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          2  City-owned property and possible zoning changes.

          3                 MR. SMARR: I think it's important to

          4  note that the developers are not given the sites.

          5  The City retains ownership of the sites. We allow

          6  them to build on the site and then in a sense lease

          7  the property, but at the end of the lease that's it.

          8  We still retain full ownership of the sites. I mean,

          9  these are school sites, and we don't want to lose

         10  control of them. School sites are so hard to come

         11  by.

         12                 But I think also one of the things

         13  that you'd want to look at in terms of value

         14  creation is these are economic development projects.

         15  These, they create jobs, just not the school

         16  construction jobs, these are often schools and

         17  housing built together. Some of these projects have

         18  affordable components to them, so you have schools

         19  and housing and affordable housing being created.

         20  So, I think all around it's a good public policy.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I agree with you.

         22  I just would like to get a finger on what the

         23  magnitude of these kinds of projects are throughout

         24  the City. Are we talking about another billion

         25  dollars worth, however you want to define worth,
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          2  school seats being created? Or is it another $10

          3  billion? I mean, how widespread is this practice

          4  throughout the City?

          5                 MR. SMARR: It's so far limited to

          6  Manhattan. We had a couple development projects in

          7  Queens and Brooklyn and the Bronx, but these

          8  projects generally go where real estate values are.

          9  I think we're looking to expand on that.

         10                 But just in terms of the projects

         11  we're working on now, the construction value is

         12  somewhat less than a half a billion dollars of new

         13  school seats.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, it's still a

         15  very small amount is what you're saying?

         16                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, I think

         18  there are areas outside Manhattan that are

         19  overcrowded that we need the seats, and I would

         20  really like to work with you to identify sites. I

         21  mean, I'll call you later today. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Smarr, can

         23  you tell me how many, if not now, subsequently to

         24  our staff, what is under consideration right now by

         25  the ECF as far as projects? I believe you have the
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          2  school at 57th Street and Second Avenue, what is the

          3  name of that?

          4                 MR. SMARR: There are actually two

          5  schools there. That's PS 59 and Art and Design High

          6  School.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right. They're

          8  going to build a new building which includes the

          9  school; is that correct?

         10                 MR. SMARR: New school facility.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what other

         12  projects are there right now on the drawing board?

         13                 MR. SMARR: Right now we have also in

         14  construction a new District 2 facility for East Side

         15  Middle School, and we're --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where is that

         17  going to be sited at?

         18                 MR. SMARR: 91st Street and First

         19  Avenue.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 MR. SMARR: And we are also continuing

         22  our discussions with Park Slope Property in Brooklyn

         23  on Butler Street.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, those are

         25  the three things that are on the table right now?
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          2                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 Now, when you talk about the

          5  five-year capital plan, as far as the seats, number

          6  of seats, I think the total seats in the five-year

          7  capital plan was what 66,000?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sixty-three.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sixty-three. So,

         10  are you now including these additional seats as part

         11  of the Five-Year Capital Plan? Or is there an

         12  asterix that's saying we're going to continue to do

         13  the 63,000 seats but because of ECF,  you know,

         14  we're not investing any of our money, we're getting

         15  an addition 5,000 seats or whatever the number of

         16  seats in there? Because I don't want people to get

         17  confused that part of the money, 13.1 billion, is

         18  going to be building another 2,000 seats for an

         19  example, when really that's not coming out of that

         20  13.1 or 13.2 billion, but it's part of the ECF as

         21  far as development by a private developer.

         22                 MR. SMARR: The seats created by ECF

         23  are actually counted as part of the 63,000, not in

         24  addition, in the materials you have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But let me
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          2  go back to the beginning of the Five-Year Capital

          3  Plan. And Kathleen, correct me if I'm wrong, or Ms.

          4  Greenberger, that originally under the plan 63,000

          5  seats; is that correct? Under the original plan?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Original

          7  plan was 66. And based on demographics we are now

          8  adding capacity of 63,000, but we're going to build

          9  3,000 replacement seats.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But why

         11  then are we throwing in the ECF, when really that's

         12  not part of the $13 billion that's being spent.

         13  Isn't that sort of mixing everything together, in

         14  order to, I guess, I don't want to say this, but

         15  rise up your numbers, and I think the clarity for

         16  me, and for my colleagues and everyone else that is

         17  monitoring this situation, is that under the

         18  Five-Year Capital Plan $13 billion, 63,000 seats,

         19  and now as a result of ECF within this Five-Year

         20  Capital Plan, let's say for example there be another

         21  1,500 or 2,000 seats, which should not be part of, I

         22  mean you could say that overall that we have gained

         23  X amount of seats, but I don't think you should

         24  throw it in there, because the confusion is people

         25  want to believe and think that that's part of the
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          2  $13 billion and part of the Five-Year Capital Plan,

          3  when the Five-Year Capital Plan, that was not part

          4  of the Five-Year Capital Plan.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: What we're

          6  saying is that, for example, the school that's being

          7  built on First Avenue and 91st Street by ECF and

          8  therefore with private dollars, that is adding to

          9  our capacity, so those seats are part of the 63,000

         10  new capacity seats. And because through the ECF

         11  we're able to build them with no cost to the City,

         12  that in effect frees up dollars that we can use for

         13  CIP, or science labs, or safety equipment, other

         14  projects.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, I'm going

         16  to ask staff, I want to see where that is

         17  distinguished in the Five-Year Capital Plan. I just

         18  think that, for example, I don't believe that,

         19  correct me if I'm wrong, that that 91st Street

         20  project would, when you introduced the Five-Year

         21  Capital Plan, was that in the actual plan at that

         22  point in time?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Not that

         24  location, but those seats were.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The seats were?

                                                            72

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. In essence

          4  we were going to use our own money to build that.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. All right,

          7  thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman. We've been joined by a number of

         10  colleagues since the last round of introduction, and

         11  I'm going to read them in the order I saw them.

         12  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council

         13  Member Helen Diane Foster from the Bronx, Council

         14  Member David Yassky from Brooklyn, Council Member

         15  Leroy Comrie from Queens, and Council Member Oliver

         16  Koppell from the Bronx.

         17                 The next questioner is Council Member

         18  Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Here we go.

         20  Thank you, Mr. Chair. It's good to see you again,

         21  Deputy Chancellor. I have a few questions. They will

         22  be very short, but I may be moving around a little

         23  bit, sort of the order in which they came into my

         24  head.

         25                 One is that of the seat capacities,
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          2  how many sites have been selected to meet some of

          3  that requirement?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have seat

          5  numbers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know you've

          7  had difficulty in locating sites, but in order to

          8  make a dent in what the objective is, how many have

          9  actually been located?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have

         11  located sites for 46,000 of the 63,000.

         12                 MS. GREENBERGER: Which is about 70

         13  percent of the seats needed. It's about 70 sites.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. Would you

         15  be able to break that down into the boroughs?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because that's

         18  Citywide and I'd like to look at it.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There's a

         20  sheet in the plan actually that we can show you that

         21  has all of that broken down by district.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

         23  Okay. I want to get to the principal supervisors for

         24  a minute and talk about what the authority of the

         25  principals are, in terms -- in order to get
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          2  something that, the principals have to give up

          3  something, I'm reducing it to a very elementary

          4  question, what would they have to give up in order

          5  to be in compliance with the reduction of

          6  overcapacity, to reduce that. They have to give up

          7  something.

          8                 If I were to think of every school

          9  that I have been in, and not only just in the

         10  district, I've been in Citywide, and those that are

         11  extremely, have overcapacity, I don't know what they

         12  would give up in order to reduce class size. So

         13  could you give me some idea what they may have to be

         14  giving up?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well,

         16  historically what principals have done to

         17  accommodate overcrowding is to use cluster rooms,

         18  for example, rooms that should be devoted to dance,

         19  or rooms that should be devoted to art, and what

         20  we've done in the blue book is that we have -- and

         21  the blue book traditionally, if that happened, that

         22  was counted as a classroom. What we did was we

         23  started saying wait a minute, that's not right.

         24  Let's report the capacity as if the cluster rooms

         25  were available to the principal, because the
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          2  principal should have those rooms available. So, in

          3  other words, we kind of raise the bar for ourselves.

          4                 But that is traditionally what they

          5  have done. A principal could do the same thing if

          6  the principal thought that reducing class size was

          7  more important than having a separate art room.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Can I interrupt

          9  for just a moment?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because I think

         12  you said a very queue thing. A principal is being

         13  placed in a position that they must make a decision

         14  if they give up the arts, which is so critical in

         15  academic training.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, the

         17  room.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, they

         19  would have to give it up because they would no

         20  longer have that room, and considering the space

         21  that they have, if they had enough space they

         22  wouldn't be overcrowded, in order to accommodate for

         23  another classroom. And how do they do that? Because

         24  I don't know what the responsibilities of a

         25  principal supervisor will be, so are they assisted
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          2  to make those decisions? Because then the principal

          3  has to contend with the parents, the elected

          4  officials have to contend with the parents, so there

          5  is a whole environment here --

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well,

          7  there's a whole school community, absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm a little

          9  lost here as to --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: These are

         11  not decisions that we want any of our principals to

         12  have to make, you know? Which is why under the plan

         13  we're committed to reducing overcrowding. Certainly

         14  under the CFE and the Contract for Excellence, there

         15  is a tremendous incentive to reduce class size.

         16                 As I said before, reducing class size

         17  has two prongs. You have to have the physical space.

         18  Some principals have physical space, some don't. And

         19  you have to have quality teachers.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, if they

         21  don't have the space, quality teachers they probably

         22  have, but if they don't have the space, does that

         23  weigh heavily enough not to be in compliance with

         24  the reduction in class size? And I bring this up

         25  here, it is a budget issue. What is it going to cost
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          2  them to give away something, and what are they

          3  losing when they get something back? In terms, it's

          4  always ending up with dollars and cents.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Very often

          6  that is true. As far as the capital plan goes, the

          7  capital plan will provide sufficient resources,

          8  sufficient physical space, to eliminate overcrowding

          9  throughout the City. Now, that just means, with the

         10  exception of K to three, that we bring class size

         11  down to what the contract mandates. Many would argue

         12  and I'm sure many people in this room would argue,

         13  that that's not the right level, that we need to

         14  move beyond that and reduce it even more. This plan

         15  will reduce K to three to 20 children in a

         16  classroom. That's down from 25. Although most of our

         17  K to three numbers on average are below 25.

         18  Significantly below 25.

         19                 Then, as I said earlier, principals

         20  have new CFE money this year, and one of the buckets

         21  that the State has laid out in terms of spending

         22  that money is for class size reduction. And then in

         23  terms of actually reducing class size, principals

         24  will be constrained by their space and their access

         25  to quality teaching.

                                                            78

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think what

          3  I'm having a difficulty with, because it's happened

          4  in my district, and I've seen where a new school, a

          5  new school had accommodations for the arts, they had

          6  accommodation for dancing, et cetera, and because of

          7  No Child Left Behind mandate, unfunded mandate, that

          8  those schools had to give up the very, very things

          9  that we all fought for so that school could have

         10  augmentation of basically what it needs to be in a

         11  good school, and not just the three Rs.

         12                 So, it seems that with doing that,

         13  we're right back to where we are before those

         14  schools had those programs. And I'm talking about

         15  new schools actually, if these new schools had to

         16  give up their space.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is no

         18  easy answer to this. Space is a very rare commodity.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm sharing my

         20  dilemma.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I

         22  understand.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And what we

         24  face when I have to deal with --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Space is a
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          2  very rare commodity in this town, and it's true in

          3  our school system also. And we are all challenged to

          4  figure out how to allocate it equitably. After all,

          5  these are all our children, and the demands are not

          6  just for No Child Left Behind, but for pre-K, the

          7  list goes on and on. So, I understand your

          8  frustration. We all feel it and we all need to work

          9  together to arrive at the best solution. None of

         10  them are probably perfect, just because space is so

         11  limited.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And just one

         13  question that really has to do with the budget, I

         14  mean I think it all does. As these new schools are

         15  built, are the operating costs and the support

         16  services that a community needs to provide, are they

         17  somehow looked at and projected in the year that

         18  that school opens and what is going to be

         19  anticipated?

         20                 For instance, we have, and it's

         21  known, it's very difficult to get school crossing

         22  guards, very difficult. Money is there and they have

         23  a very difficult time doing that. As those schools

         24  open, I would think the same issue would be facing

         25  those new schools as are facing the existing
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          2  schools.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Therefore, is

          5  there any consideration given to incentives for that

          6  program so that when a school opens there is

          7  something in place that will not only fill what

          8  could end up being a void, as well as helping the

          9  existing situation.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, we go

         11  through extensive planning with the principal of the

         12  new school, the new physical school, looking at all

         13  issues, budget, safety, enrollment, and if you have

         14  suggestions, if you think we're overlooking things,

         15  we'd be happy to have your comments.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, what my

         17  experience has found, while being on Finance in

         18  budget negotiating, is that we plan things and then

         19  when it comes time for them to go into full

         20  operation, there's a tremendous shortage of what is

         21  necessary to provide the community support services,

         22  and it seems that they have to be in conjunction

         23  with not only putting up the facility but at the

         24  same time at least estimating and projecting what

         25  that would need in order for that school to turn the
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          2  key and for it to operate effectively within the

          3  community.

          4                 It seems that the gap is so huge

          5  right now that finding sites --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council member,

          7  we have seven questioners and we're trying to limit

          8  this to capital because we have Expense scheduled

          9  next week.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. Okay,

         11  thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Again, it's

         13  11:15 now, we have allocated until 11:30 for this

         14  portion of the hearing regarding the capital budget.

         15                 I'm going to remind our colleagues

         16  that we have an Expense hearing scheduled for next

         17  week, so if you could kind of restrict your

         18  questions to capital and we'll try to keep -- please

         19  restrict your questions to capital, we'll try to

         20  keep to the timetable as much as we can. We've been

         21  joined by two more colleagues, Council Member Peter

         22  Vallone, Jr., from Queens, and Council Member

         23  Melissa Mark-Viverito from Manhattan and the Bronx.

         24                 The next questioner is Council Member

         25  Felder.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          3  much. I have a few questions. The security equipment

          4  that my colleagues talked about, is that capital or

          5  is that expense?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is a

          7  capital component to it, in terms of its

          8  installation and then there is ongoing maintenance.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But the basic

         10  installation is a capital item?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, I

         13  appreciate your answering it that way so that I can

         14  ask you the second question. Unfortunately, or

         15  fortunately, it's like the same thing for me, the

         16  non-public schools should therefore be eligible to

         17  use capital money to install security equipment in

         18  the schools; what do you think about that?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think

         20  that's a conversation we would have to have with

         21  OMB, and we'd have to look at the capital rules.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I don't

         23  understand. Is the capital or not?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It is a

         25  capital expense.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: It is a

          3  capital expense. There is no question. That was like

          4  an emphatic answer.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So what's

          7  there to talk with OMB about?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: OMB and the

          9  Law Department, similarly to when I believe the

         10  Council allocated money for a computers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And we had

         13  to go through a process and we worked it out.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But in your

         15  opinion, forget about OMB and everybody else, in

         16  your opinion, since you care about all children in

         17  this City, and I mean that, and I know that from

         18  personal, personal observation when I worked for you

         19  at the Department of Finance you cared about me.

         20                 So, in your opinion, if it's a

         21  capital item, that should be something that's

         22  eligible as a capital item, you know, in other

         23  places as well.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Council

         25  Member, I am here to deliver all the facts I can on
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          2  the capital plan for the Department of Education.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right. I'm

          4  happy you agree with me.

          5                 Now, the other thing I wanted to ask

          6  you about was on this, there is an urban assembly

          7  school for criminal justice, do you know where

          8  that's going to be located?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Not off the

         10  top of my head.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: It says K two

         12  to three. There are a few people here with your

         13  staff maybe somebody knows, and then I'll go to the

         14  next thing so we don't waste time.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, the

         16  Montauk School.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Now, I have

         18  information that there is almost $2 million going

         19  into construction estimates, what would that money

         20  be used for?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

         22  the details of that --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right. If

         24  you could let me know, I would appreciate that.

         25  Very, very curious. Who is going to let me know
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          2  that?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Erin

          4  Stevens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Excellent.

          6  Excellent. I'm happy she's here today.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: So am I.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Now, the other

          9  thing, with regard to the issue, I talked to a

         10  number of people about the real estate. At this

         11  time, public schools that exist belong to the

         12  Department of Education; is that true?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Unless

         14  leased.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Unless leased,

         16  good. I wasn't going to try to catch you on that.

         17                 Okay, but once a public school is

         18  sold, it goes into the City pot; is that true?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         21                 So, just for the record, for the

         22  Chairs, I just want to make a point that there are,

         23  again, I mentioned other times, there are

         24  neighborhoods in this City that are overcapacity and

         25  there are those that are extraordinarily
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          2  under-capacity, and the Board of Ed or the

          3  Department of Ed is faced with a very big problem,

          4  because even if they entertain selling property and

          5  getting the cash from somebody who wants to buy it

          6  and being able to use that money without any

          7  problems, waiting from Albany or anywhere else, to

          8  build new sites, they can't do it, because if they

          9  sell the property it goes into the City pot. And I'm

         10  just mentioning to the chair of Finance and chair of

         11  Education, it would seem to me that if there is any

         12  way that they could retain that money then it would

         13  give them level flexibility in being able to target

         14  money that they could sell on the open market,

         15  properties that are really, you know, at 25, 30

         16  percent capacity, sell those properties and retain

         17  the space until they build new properties and have

         18  cash from some developer who wants to build maybe

         19  whatever they want to build, and that's a problem. I

         20  think that there should be an exception to the rule.

         21  You know, I'm not blaming you, I'm just saying that

         22  it's a problem you face, and it's not a good thing.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I'm

         24  not sure it's a problem. I mean, we're part of the

         25  City, the Mayor has given us $6.5 billion and we

                                                            87

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  have a plan, and the City, too, has many needs, and

          3  so how the process works is that the Department is

          4  no longer going to use a building, it gets

          5  transferred to DCAS.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Is that the

          7  case about every City agency?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, I think

         10  it is a problem. I think that if you're being forced

         11  to bring students from different neighborhoods from

         12  all over the place to try to fill seats in the

         13  neighborhoods that don't have the need, and the

         14  reason part of the solution would be to be able to

         15  sell those properties, and you can't do that because

         16  you're going to lose the money, I think it's a

         17  problem.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         19  think that's why we're doing it. As I said earlier,

         20  this is difficult. Space is a rare commodity.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right. You

         22  know what? We don't have to argue in public. I'll

         23  meet you in the rotunda after the meeting.

         24                 And lastly, I just wanted to say this

         25  plan, the Mayor's plan, you know, to the parks and
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          2  to the public schools, you know, so that there is a

          3  park within a ten-minute walk, I have been having

          4  conversations with parks, as well as with Department

          5  of Education, and this is not a question, this is a

          6  statement, and it's not a problem yet, but I just

          7  want to say that I think there is still some

          8  confusion about how these things are going to

          9  actually get done, and whose responsibility it is.

         10  So, if we're indeed to have these parks, and I think

         11  it is a wonderful thing, but if we're going to get

         12  stuck in some bureaucratic log jam as to who decides

         13  which parks get built at which schools and who is

         14  going to maintain the responsibility, and, again, I

         15  can't blame anything on you, especially, as I said,

         16  you were nice to me when I was a child in New York

         17  City, but I think it's never going to work.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. Thank

         20  you, Council member.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Concerning the

         22  $2 million that the City Council allocated for

         23  computers in non-public schools approximately two

         24  years ago, can you give me the status, what the

         25  current status is of that?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I believe we

          3  have made great progress, but I don't have the

          4  details with me on that. That project is completed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, can you

          6  give the details of that?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Send it to our

          9  staff.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. The

         13  next questioner is Council Member Katz.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

         15  much, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 Hello, Deputy Commissioner.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

         18  morning.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And Ms.

         20  Greenberger.

         21                 It is of no surprise to you, I think,

         22  that I am once again going to ask about the Office

         23  of New Schools.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And I understand
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          2  that we keep talking about the fact that there is a

          3  plan, and perhaps I am missing something. It's

          4  possible. It's been known to happen once or twice in

          5  my life. I thought I was wrong once, but I was

          6  mistaken, right?

          7                 The Office of New Schools, it seems

          8  like, according to some of my colleagues, that there

          9  are 33 new schools, we've established that, correct?

         10  Thirty-three new schools. The question I have is, we

         11  asked for some documentation regarding those new

         12  schools and the capital money for the new schools

         13  and where they were going, I think we got a response

         14  back of like six or seven of the schools and the

         15  funding for that in the capital plan. I guess my

         16  question is a few fold. Number one, I would like to

         17  review it again.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The Office of

         20  New Schools, first of all, is the head of the Office

         21  of New Schools here?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is anyone from

         24  the Office of New Schools here?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No. The new
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          2  schools are not specifically related to the capital

          3  plan.

          4                 I'm also not sure where the number 33

          5  comes from.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Ms. Grimm

          7  testified that the cost associated with opening 33

          8  new schools within existing schools next September

          9  are not reflected in the capital plan. That I

         10  believe is a summary of your testimony at the last

         11  hearing.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will go

         13  back and review my testimony because I'm only saying

         14  I don't know where the number 33 comes from.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. Let's just

         16  say the number at this point is not the important

         17  part. There's a few issues that I'd like to explain

         18  more fully, if I can.

         19                 Number one, my understanding is the

         20  new schools are basically going in other schools,

         21  correct? Mostly.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Mostly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The new schools

         24  are going in other schools.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, when Ms.

          3  Lappin, Council Member Lappin was talking to you

          4  about the leased space or how many schools are now

          5  going through a ULURP, as opposed to leased space,

          6  the number one-third came in. So, I want to clarify

          7  that all of the new schools basically are not going

          8  through any Council procedure or any Council review,

          9  because if they're going into other schools, there

         10  is no process that requires our approval; is that

         11  right?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If I may?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm

         17  interested in this conversation because I think

         18  there are lots of misunderstandings.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We're

         21  sitting here, we're sort of the masons, and we're

         22  talking to you about the new schools and the new

         23  seats that we are constructing basically. The Office

         24  of New Schools is really looking at the creation of

         25  instructional communities.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: However, and

          3  tell me if I'm wrong, there are Council members who

          4  have been told that a new school is going into a

          5  pre-existing school, there is only one grade or two

          6  grades maybe capacity right now. So, what's going to

          7  end up happening is that within two or three years,

          8  a new environment or a new space will be given to

          9  that new school, and it will then come out of the

         10  pre-existing school, go into the new construction or

         11  go into the new space provided, and therefore we

         12  probably need a plan, and tell me if I'm wrong, for

         13  the schools that it's going to be moved to. Am I

         14  wrong on that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No. In some

         16  cases new schools are placed in a site and there is

         17  a plan to move that school after it reaches a

         18  certain enrollment level.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Where are we

         20  moving the schools to? So, basically what we're

         21  saying is at this moment today, as we live in this

         22  date in May of 2007, there is no capital money

         23  needed because this grade is going into a

         24  preexisting school. However, these schools, and the

         25  Council members are being told that in two years
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          2  they don't have to worry about the fact that the

          3  school will be growing, because in two years there

          4  will be a new site.

          5                 My understanding is that quite often

          6  the new site has not been chosen, and also that it

          7  may have to be constructed. So, my question is,

          8  where is that money?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         10  actually have the whole range of possibilities here.

         11                 For example, in our large high

         12  schools, many of which we are closing or have

         13  closed, many new schools have been created, and we

         14  now have campuses where we might have four or five

         15  schools within that very large building.

         16                 We are spending some capital dollars

         17  in those schools to create separate instructional

         18  environments for each of those schools. We can have

         19  new schools that are placed in new buildings that

         20  have been built, that will be placed there

         21  permanently. We have new schools that are placed in

         22  existing schools that have space that they're not

         23  using. That school can be placed there on a

         24  temporary basis, because we know if the school grows

         25  to the estimated capacity it won't fit, and so it
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          2  will have to be moved in year, two years, three

          3  years, whatever the numbers work out to be, or it

          4  could be placed in that building permanently,

          5  because once it grows to its full size, there is

          6  still enough space in that school.

          7                 So, it's very individualized, but

          8  important for us to keep talking about because I

          9  think there were some misunderstandings around it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But from what

         11  you're telling me, it doesn't sound like there's a

         12  misunderstanding. I think it sounds really just the

         13  way it is. I think that, first of all, if you're

         14  saying that some of the new schools are going in

         15  right now and there needs to be some instruction in

         16  order to accommodate that, then that's capital

         17  money.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, in the

         20  budget that is where?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, with

         22  regard to the 22 campuses, where the bulk of this

         23  work is being done, that's in the SIRAP allocations.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: In the SIRAP

         25  money, okay. We talked about that last time. It's in
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          2  the SIRAP money. So there is capital money for the

          3  new schools, it's just in the SIRAP money and not

          4  allocated individually per school?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, it's

          6  allocated to the campus location.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: To the campus

          8  location.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, my concern

         11  is more so, and I'm going to stop because I think

         12  I'm beating a dead horse, but my point, Mr.

         13  Chairman, and Deputy Commissioner, is that there are

         14  Council members being told that there are new

         15  schools going inside of preexisting schools, the

         16  school that is a new school, may be expanded, and it

         17  may not be able to fit, or is not going to fit in

         18  the school that's already existing.

         19                 My issue is that nowhere do we have a

         20  plan for those schools. I mean, we can't keep saying

         21  we're lowering our numbers for classroom, that we

         22  have a plan in existence because we have all these

         23  new schools that are going into these other schools,

         24  and say that the numbers are better in our

         25  classrooms and say, right, but when those numbers
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          2  expand inside the new schools we're going to place

          3  you somewhere, and we don't know where that is yet,

          4  and it's not part of the capital plan. And I guess

          5  there are times that I look at this and I just say

          6  that I think that's really the confusion. I think

          7  the Department of Education wants people to have

          8  confidence in them. I really do. I think that that's

          9  their goal. But these types of things promote my

         10  constituents to come to me and say I don't get it.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I hear you.

         12  I hear you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, maybe we'll

         14  have a plan soon.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I hear you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll work

         18  on it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 We've been joined by Council Member

         22  Domenic M. Recchia, Jr., from Brooklyn.

         23                 The next questioner is Council Member

         24  Vacca.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Ms. Grimm,
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          2  School Construction Authority, I first thank you

          3  both for responding when I e-mail and you get back

          4  to me quickly. I don't always agree with you but you

          5  get back to me quickly and I thank you.

          6                 Ms. Grimm, the common denominator for

          7  determining overcrowding and overutilization seems

          8  to me to be faulty. The common denominator states

          9  that basically when we look at a utilization of a

         10  school building, the school building utilization is

         11  determined by the number of classrooms, minus what

         12  we would want cluster teachers to have; namely, a

         13  classroom.

         14                 Many schools have seven, eight, nine

         15  cluster teachers. When the school is overcrowded,

         16  they are in shopping carts, they are in closets,

         17  they travel. They don't have their own room for art,

         18  for remediation, for music, for science. So, what I

         19  hear from you today concerns me because when we

         20  develop a capital plan, and we assess how many seats

         21  we need in a particular region or a school district,

         22  the determination is basically saying that if a

         23  building has a capacity of 750 children, but there

         24  are 1,000 children in the school because the cluster

         25  rooms have been converted because the school was
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          2  overcrowded, now since the cluster teachers don't

          3  have classrooms, there are 1,000 children, cluster

          4  teachers without classroom, that school is 100

          5  percent utilized.

          6                 To me, that school is more like 140

          7  percent utilized because we want to return the

          8  cluster teachers to an instructional classroom. Is

          9  this an issue that we should be concerned about? Is

         10  this an issue you're aware of on the basic

         11  computation for our discussion of utilization?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We changed

         13  this. If we have a school with 750 capacity and

         14  we've got 1,000 children, if they're in the cluster

         15  rooms, we shouldn't be counting the cluster rooms,

         16  we don't count the cluster rooms as classrooms. We

         17  would say that school is, check my math here, at 133

         18  percent of capacity.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So, y ou're

         20  telling me now that you've told us, that when you

         21  tell us a school is 130 percent utilized, it assumes

         22  that the cluster teachers will be returned to the

         23  classrooms?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That they

         25  would be returned to the cluster rooms, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: What does it

          3  assume regarding portable classrooms? How do you

          4  compute transportables or mini schools or whatever?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We don't

          6  count them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You don't count

          8  them as part of the building utilization?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In this

         10  plan, we are trying to get to a situation where we

         11  have reduced overcrowding to the contract levels, to

         12  20 for K to three, not counting the cluster rooms,

         13  not counting the trailers and not counting the mini

         14  schools over 20 years old? Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Not, counting

         16  mini schools over 20 years old.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Mini schools

         19  less than 20 years old are included in the

         20  building's utilization?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In this

         22  capital plan they are, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Is there a

         24  capital plan to get rid of mini schools, or is that

         25  down the road long time?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Down the

          3  road. Next plan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right. I

          5  didn't see any talk, especially in the Bronx, where

          6  in my district, I'm thinking, to be honest, I didn't

          7  see any talk about building extensions. Are you

          8  looking at building extensions?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, we are.

         10  In the Bronx we have sites for all of our capacity

         11  needs.

         12                 But we're not so lucky in Queens and

         13  in Brooklyn. And there we are exploring with some

         14  success additions to schools.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: One site I did

         16  not see in the Bronx in my district is PS 96 that

         17  has 24 portable classrooms in the school yard. It's

         18  a K to five school with 26 portables -- 24.

         19  Twenty-four portables. Under the plan, now I don't

         20  know if those portables are there, 15 years you

         21  said?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The plan

         23  contemplates when all of the seats are in place that

         24  all the trailers will be gone.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Oh, but that's
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          2  long term.

          3                 MS. GREENBERGER: When the current

          4  construction projects are completed, then we can

          5  begin removing the TCUs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: That were there

          7  how long?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: 2011 is the

          9  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: No, no, no. You

         11  mentioned before, Deputy Chancellor --

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Those are

         13  the mini schools.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Oh, those are

         15  the mini schools. All the portable classrooms should

         16  be gone. So, therefore there is a plan for an

         17  extension in a school like this that has 24 portable

         18  classrooms?

         19                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think we should

         20  take a look specifically --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Yes, I'd like

         22  to take a look at PS 96.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will tell

         24  you, we have two additions going on right now in the

         25  Bronx, one at 95 and I think one at 79.

                                                            103

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Lastly, I had

          3  to mention about high schools in the Bronx, Clinton,

          4  Lehman, drastic overcrowding. Now, we have small

          5  high schools and big high schools as you know, what

          6  is the plan especially regarding high schools?

          7  Because even with the small schools moving out,

          8  we're going to have high schools in my borough with

          9  4,700 4,800 students, including one in my district.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         11  have some very large high schools. And I mean, we're

         12  going to have those large buildings and we're going

         13  to keep them. What we are doing in many of the

         14  schools is phasing out the old post high school and

         15  creating new schools that are smaller and so you

         16  have more adults in the building and you have more

         17  children in basically smaller schools. And we have

         18  seen some very good results from these schools.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So, we will

         20  still be having schools of 4,600?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You will

         22  have buildings with amounts, enrollments like that

         23  in several schools.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          3  Council member. The next questioner is Council

          4  Member Fidler. I must say, as the Chair of the

          5  Education Committee, Jim, you're aware that DOE are

          6  building high school seats based on not what the

          7  needs are, in my opinion, but they're building high

          8  school seats based on the projected graduation

          9  rates, with the current graduation rates in the

         10  Bronx is 36 percent, even though DOE is hoping to

         11  get the graduation rate overall to 70 percent, so

         12  they're not building based on what the reality of

         13  what is it's expected to be. And I think that's a

         14  fundamental problem that needs to be addressed.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have I

         16  think reached out to your office. We would like very

         17  much to sit down and discuss that. We feel there is

         18  some misunderstanding around the graduation rate.

         19                 That's not to say there isn't also a

         20  conversation that we should be having in terms of

         21  the next capital plan, if we build to, what the

         22  contract calls for now in terms of class size, is

         23  that where we want to stop? I mean, but that's

         24  another conversation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I understand.
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          2  And I will schedule that meeting. But also, I think

          3  that the Bronx Delegation needs to address that,

          4  because their plan is not to build based on what

          5  your needs are. It's based on what the graduation

          6  rate is expected to be, which is nowhere near the

          7  level of acceptability.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Just for the

          9  record, we're not building based on graduation

         10  rates, and I would welcome an opportunity to sit

         11  down with the Bronx Delegation.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay. And I

         13  will be a part of that sit down.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fine.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GRIMM: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman. And uncharacteristically, I intend to be

         20  both brief and not ask any questions, but I want to

         21  lay a few thank yous that I think very much need to

         22  be on the record.

         23                 Apropos of Councilman Ignizio's

         24  remark at the very beginning of this hearing, which

         25  seems like yesterday, I want to thank Chairman

                                                            106

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  Jackson. I want to thank Chairman Jackson for

          3  bringing the lawsuit that compelled Councilman

          4  Ignizio and his former colleagues, to begin to

          5  address a measure of fairness to New York City

          6  School Children. There is nothing like a Court Order

          7  appeal to the Court of Appeals and back, to inspire

          8  a true bipartisan spirit on behalf of New York City

          9  school children. So, I just wanted to thank Chairman

         10  Jackson. I think that comment needed to be made.

         11                 Second, when Ms. Greenberger

         12  testified at the Preliminary Budget hearing, she

         13  indicated there was 17 additional projects in the

         14  amendment, and the information has been provided to

         15  us and by your office, and I see that one of those

         16  projects was PS 135 in Brooklyn. And I know that

         17  when you met with the Brooklyn Delegation, Council

         18  Member Mealy and Council Member Stewart and I had

         19  asked that that project be included and are very,

         20  very pleased to see that you listened to that and

         21  included it into the capital amendment, and I wanted

         22  to thank you for that.

         23                 And third, recently I have had my

         24  staff review every dollar that I've allocated of

         25  taxpayers' money for capital programs of all kinds
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          2  since I became a Council Member, and, you know, we

          3  frequently as members express a great deal of

          4  frustration in allocating money years ago that is

          5  still in process or hasn't even seen a

          6  ground-breaking, I just want to say that the work

          7  done by DOE and the School Construction Authority

          8  stands out in terms of the projects that were funded

          9  and completed. And I give a lot of money towards

         10  capital programs in my school, and the vast majority

         11  of those that were funded before last year were

         12  started and done, and compared to some other

         13  agencies, that's extraordinary, and I wanted to say

         14  thank you for that good work and put that on the

         15  record.

         16                 And last, I want to applaud the fact

         17  that getting rid of temporary classrooms and quansa

         18  huts (phonetic) is a priority in this capital

         19  program. I think it should be one of its top, top

         20  agenda items, because I think when we send a child

         21  to a classroom, in a temporary room, a trailer, a

         22  quansa hut, we are sending them the absolute wrong

         23  message about the importance of their education. So,

         24  thank you for the good work.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          4  Council member. Council Member Brewer.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Could I just

          6  say one thing? Because I made a statement and I want

          7  to correct the record.

          8                 I told Council Member Vacca that we

          9  had sited all of the seats in the Bronx. We still

         10  have some seats in District 10 I believe that we

         11  have to find sites for.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         14  much. I want to echo Council Member Fidler and thank

         15  you for Beacon High School, as you know, and

         16  hopefully it will come to a good resolution. I

         17  appreciate your support of maintaining the current

         18  location.

         19                 I just want to understand something

         20  that maybe you discussed earlier, but when we move

         21  from districts to region you save some

         22  administrative space?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Are you going

         25  to save some administrative space in this current
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          2  reorganization? Is that a capital issue? Maybe it's

          3  not.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure it's a

          5  capital issue. We do not anticipate that we will

          6  save any significant space across the City. We do

          7  have one site that we are looking at that I think

          8  maybe we can convert from administrative through

          9  school use. But that would be just one site.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So,

         11  generally where there have been region

         12  administrative sites, what will they be converted

         13  to? Will it be some of the new networks?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There will

         15  be several things. The largest thing that will be

         16  out there are the new ISCs, the Integrated Service

         17  Centers. Remember the ROC offices are closing, the

         18  Regional offices are closing. We're not closing the

         19  physical space, just the operations of those

         20  offices. And the ISC is not a big ROC and the ISC is

         21  going to be a much more comprehensive service

         22  delivery vehicle for the principals. So, they will

         23  take up a great deal of the space. We will also have

         24  space, all the community superintendents will be

         25  there, parent support and family advocacy people
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          2  will be out there, OCEPO (phonetic), our enrollment

          3  people have space out there. And also, the leader,

          4  the LSOs, and to some degree the ESOs will have

          5  spaces out in those offices.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, second,

          7  you talked extensively, correctly, about green

          8  buildings, I assume, for new schools. If there are

          9  current schools that want to be green, mostly

         10  whatever would be capital eligible, is that

         11  something that is consideration for any of this

         12  funding or not?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes, it is.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What does that

         15  mean? Go ahead.

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: It means there are

         17  certain thresholds that if we're going to do a

         18  certain, either by capital expenditure the amount of

         19  work that's done, we will have to meet some of those

         20  same green design standards, so there are some

         21  projects in design that are CIP projects that will

         22  meet certain green design standard. If you have

         23  specific questions about specific schools --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, we can

         25  work on them. I mean, I know innovative green
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          2  garden, i.e., maybe not as fancy as the Calhoun

          3  School, which is a private school and a model for

          4  the country, but something like that, schools ask me

          5  for capital dollars for that. Sometimes there has

          6  been a green garden in the past, I'd love to

          7  recreate it, not so easy. We should do it

          8  school-by-school.

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER: Just one thing to

         10  keep in mind is there are two costs to these things.

         11  There are capital costs, but then there are ongoing

         12  operational and maintenance costs.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. I can

         14  take care of the operational, if you can take care

         15  of the capital.

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: Well, we should have

         17  a conversation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         19                 Second issue, or third issue is, when

         20  you say school or building extensions; one of the

         21  situations in Manhattan is you are going to have a

         22  hard time finding space. And, so, when you have a

         23  middle school and an elementary school, and in many

         24  cases elementary school was there first, middle

         25  school came in, it's smaller, and there's always
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          2  them and us, that's one issue. But the second is,

          3  somehow the middle schools are crowded. There is a

          4  roof, there is a lovely old school. Everybody sees

          5  classroom in their dreams in terms of that roof; is

          6  that considered a building expansion, that obviously

          7  the roof would have to hold it? This is an ongoing

          8  discussion in my district, and I don't know if

          9  that's something to even consider.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think I've

         11  seen that roof with you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, you've

         13  seen the one in Center School, but you haven't seen

         14  the one at PS 75.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And those

         16  projects are difficult mainly because very often the

         17  roof can't support additional building. And we would

         18  have to look at that, we would have to look at each

         19  individual project.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I will

         21  give you a list. When there is no other place to go,

         22  literally, that would be at least something to look

         23  at.

         24                 When you mentioned ECF. Obviously one

         25  that comes to mind is the one that you're not going
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          2  to want to hear about, which is Riverside South. Why

          3  couldn't Riverside South be an ECF? No, it's not

          4  municipal land, but it is ULURP'd to be ULURP'd

          5  land, it has a municipal content to it. I'd be glad

          6  to give you a tour.

          7                 MR. SMARR: Well, now, I'm familiar

          8  with Riverside South. ECF again is statutorily

          9  limited to City-owned land.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, it's not

         11  something that is private land, has to be ULURP'd

         12  and there has to be a public/private partnership

         13  possibility?

         14                 MR. SMARR: Yes. I mean, we certainly

         15  have had a school built on privately-owned land that

         16  is being constructed on privately owned land, the

         17  Beekman School down here. But, again, we can only

         18  get involved in municipal sites.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, 91st and

         20  Second is City-owned Land?

         21                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So,

         23  there is no other program that has another acronym

         24  for my kind of school?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Not that
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          2  we're aware of.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But maybe we

          4  can develop one. Still I'm not going to give up on

          5  Riverside South, Kathleen.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then just

          8  finally, the issue of the campuses. Picking up a

          9  little bit on Council Member Katz. I know that there

         10  is sometimes funding, but what's the -- I keep

         11  asking for the monitoring of the process; is that

         12  something that you are aware of? You have capital

         13  money, it goes into the campuses, there is six,

         14  seven, five principals, no matter how much you think

         15  it's being discussed internally, it's not. And I

         16  just say in order to get the money spent in the best

         17  possible fashion and in order to have the best

         18  product, who is in charge? Maybe it's you? Of

         19  getting those principals with SCA on a regular

         20  basis, to talk about spending money? It is not

         21  happening. Good intentions, but it's not happening.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I wish

         23  you would give us the particulars, you know,

         24  off-line here.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I will.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Particularly

          3  with the 22 campuses I think we've done a really

          4  good job in bringing those principals together.

          5                 That's not to say, you know, it's not

          6  a challenge sometimes. But if you have some

          7  particular spots, we'd like to hear which they are.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so I'll

          9  get back to you about the current funding for campus

         10  schools, listing of possible green roofs or

         11  something that would provide more of an

         12  environmentally healthy situation, and building

         13  extension possibilities. Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we have

         15  three more questioners. We're about 20 minutes

         16  behind schedule.

         17                 Next three questioners will be

         18  Council Member Yassky, followed by Council Member

         19  Reyna, followed by Council member -- well, actually

         20  he's not here, so followed by Council Member Reyna.

         21                 Council Member Yassky.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         23                 I just want to pick up on some of the

         24  questions that Melinda Katz was asking before, and I

         25  guess Gale picked up on as well, about the division
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          2  of new schools, and the plans or lack of plans for

          3  newly created schools to have permanent spaces as

          4  they grow. And just the context, I was at a middle

          5  school and high school, I was at a building last

          6  night talking to a group of PTA folks, maybe 100 or

          7  so, who have a new school being moved into their

          8  building. I was there to support what the Department

          9  is trying to do, and to encourage the parents to

         10  work toward making it work. And you know, was met

         11  with quite a bit of skepticism about the

         12  Department's ability to follow through, and

         13  willingness to follow through on some of those

         14  commitments, quite honestly, because they were told

         15  here is a new school, it's coming and it's going to

         16  be there for two years, but they know, as well as I

         17  do, that there is no plan for what's going to happen

         18  in the two years, and I say, I was there saying

         19  let's make this work, you know, it's worth doing.

         20  But having seen other schools where there are now

         21  new schools that are two years, three years old,

         22  that are now, you know, too big to fit in where they

         23  are, I understand why people are concerned.

         24                 So, I think that is a really top

         25  level issue for the Department.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think

          3  we've heard that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. You

          5  know, in that context I sat with Sharon Greenberger

          6  just the other day and said, look, there's a

          7  particular school, a middle school that's in like an

          8  elementary school that is too big, that needs to

          9  move that I would like to help you, you know, figure

         10  out how to do that, and indeed said, look, I'm not

         11  going to just say put in more money, although that

         12  would be great, I went with her through a series of,

         13  I forget what you call it, but repairs or

         14  improvements part of the budget, and said here are

         15  eight or nine million dollars worth of repairs

         16  projects that are valuable and important. To my

         17  mind, not as important to my community as creating a

         18  permanent space for this new school. And what I

         19  understood the response to be was, we can't move

         20  from, money from the repairs, improvements part to

         21  the capacity part. And I'd like to ask you if that

         22  is the policy, because it seems to me, I mean I feel

         23  that I know, you know, I have a good handle on

         24  what's important to my constituents, and I think

         25  that in this case creating a new space for the

                                                            118

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  school would be the top priority.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think what

          4  drives us there, you know, it's all the Chancellor's

          5  money and its fungible. What drives us is probably a

          6  great desire to protect the CIP money, because the

          7  stock is so in need of upgrades and we went through

          8  so many decades of not investing money in the

          9  schools and the needs are just so great that I think

         10  there is a great desire to protect --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I understand

         12  and I don't want to prolong. I would say, you know,

         13  when you say it's all the Chancellor's money, I know

         14  what you mean by that, you mean it's all the

         15  taxpayers' money.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Exactly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that, you

         18  know, ultimately it's up to the Chancellor, together

         19  with the Council, to figure out how to allocate it.

         20  And you guys are the experts, no question about it,

         21  but I do think that we have a role to play in

         22  providing some input to you about priorities within

         23  our neighborhoods --

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- And without
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          2  looking to dramatically rearrange what you're doing,

          3  I do believe that from my area, creating a space for

          4  that particular school would be a top priority and I

          5  really would like to work with you on that.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. And then

          8  I'll make one policy point that's broader, we don't

          9  have time to discuss at length, but when you talk

         10  about capacity, and kind of measures of need for new

         11  capacity, I understand that what you're looking at

         12  is how packed the buildings are, I want to suggest

         13  that there is another measure which is, you know,

         14  how far students are going to school. Do you look at

         15  that?

         16                 I am fairly certain, I don't think

         17  there are numbers on this, but in the middle, my

         18  district has three thirds, in the middle third of

         19  it, that if you looked at the average distance that

         20  students go to middle school, nobody is going to

         21  middle school in their neighborhood or close to

         22  their neighborhood. They're all going quite far

         23  away. Now, that may mean that there are not

         24  buildings that are packed to capacity in that area.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But it does

          3  mean that there is a need for new capacity. What do

          4  you think about that?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the

          6  ultimate goal, as you know, is to create 1,450 great

          7  schools that everybody wants to send their children

          8  to, but what we know is that we don't have that

          9  today, and so you have schools that are really

         10  under-utilized, and that's why people are traveling.

         11  We also have in many areas, we look at parent choice

         12  as a very important part of what the school

         13  experience should be.

         14                 So, it's complicated, children do

         15  travel far and of course, we see that often

         16  reflected in our bus budget.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I want parent

         18  choice, too. And I know we'll get back, I would just

         19  say that it seems to me that if the average distance

         20  of kids in some defined areas going to middle school

         21  is two miles, three miles, that tells you that there

         22  is a need for a response from the system. Okay,

         23  thank you.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fair enough.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 Council Member Reyna.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair. Ms. Grimm, I just wanted to take a moment to

          6  find out if you're familiar with, I know that I've

          7  mentioned it in the past to you, MS 577. It's a

          8  middle school in Brooklyn, and the conversation in

          9  the past is the frustration with the parents 13,

         10  almost 14 years ago now, having seen plans by the

         11  School Construction Authority where there was going

         12  to be a new site built. And this was a new school

         13  created for the demand of the need to provide an

         14  additional middle school in the area. A TCU, 13, 14

         15  years later, is still being occupied where the

         16  spillover of this middle school is now going into

         17  the elementary school, and the playground area is

         18  where these TCUs exist.

         19                 My frustration is that your

         20  Department is telling me to speak to the Office of

         21  New Schools, and the Office of New Schools is

         22  telling me that this is not priority. And in my

         23  eyes, parents are swarming the doors of this school

         24  because it's one of our better schools, and the

         25  demand is so great that by the time they continue to
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          2  accept more students, the elementary school is now

          3  at a rival territorial confrontation with the middle

          4  school, because now their middle school, their

          5  elementary school space is overcrowded.

          6                 What is the solution for such a

          7  situation when I've heard Council members in the

          8  question and answer section with you telling you

          9  about other areas where, you know, there's TCUs that

         10  are built as temporary facilities, but they're

         11  supposed to be replaced with permanent facilities.

         12  And this particular situation, 13, 14 years ago,

         13  parents heard the same non-sense, and 13 years later

         14  they're still operating from TCUs. They saw plans,

         15  and now they've been forgotten in this five-year

         16  capital plan, third year, fourth year into this

         17  plan, we still don't have a solution for this

         18  school. What am I supposed to be telling these

         19  parents at the end of the day.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, let us

         21  get back to you. I don't know why anyone is

         22  directing you to the Office of New Schools, because

         23  clearly what you're talking about is a space and

         24  capacity issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I've been
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          2  very clear.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay. We'll

          4  get back to you and we'll be clear, I don't know how

          5  successful we'll be in giving you answers, but we

          6  will give you an answer to the best of our knowledge

          7  and ability.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I need there to

          9  be more than just a conversation. I need you to see

         10  it with your own eyes.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Because I

         13  cannot explain the situation any further. I'm tired

         14  of discussing this issue and this is not the first

         15  time I bring it up. Every year I have been raising

         16  this and nothing gets resolved.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll

         18  follow-up with you. We'll move this to a resolution

         19  for you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

         21  that.

         22                 As far as the State Education

         23  Department, with the Contract for Excellence, and

         24  this continuous of class size reduction in the pre-K

         25  through 12, where ever there is a low-performing and
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          2  over-crowded issue, is that in conjunction in order

          3  to be a mandate for your Department to resolve

          4  overcrowding? Or is that one or the other?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it's

          6  actually two different streams. In the capital plan

          7  we have provided for class size reduction in classes

          8  K through three. The Contract for Excellence has to

          9  do with the Expense Budget, the Operating Budget,

         10  and we'll be having a hearing with you next week on

         11  that, and those monies are, that money is operating

         12  money that is available for reducing class size.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And, so, in a

         14  situation where in Bushwick, District 32, you've

         15  already made the assessment there already is a need

         16  for a K through three or we've run out of land, what

         17  occurs in order for you to deal with that mandate?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If there is

         19  a need in the plan for a K to two facility, then

         20  what we need to do is find a site for it and then

         21  we'll build it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: It's my

         23  understanding that the Department has gone to, you

         24  know, the CEC, who is actively calling my office,

         25  Council Member Dilan's Office, asking for help,
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          2  where do we get this site, and, you know, we don't

          3  want to lose the opportunity of getting a K through

          4  three.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Of course.

          6                 It is in the plan. It is identified

          7  in the plan. If it's identified in the plan then the

          8  problem is a site. Then we'll work with you and

          9  we'll work with any community group to try to find a

         10  site in the district.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But what

         12  happens if you don't?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: We don't give up.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, one of

         15  the things we were talking about earlier is we find

         16  a site we can buy or maybe we can find a site that

         17  we can lease, because that's a perfectly acceptable

         18  way of doing it too. But we have to find a site.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And when is the

         20  deadline for finding a site? Is there such a

         21  deadline?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the

         23  capital plan is a five-year instrument which runs

         24  through '09. But if we continue to have a need for

         25  that school, it would simply roll over into the next
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          2  plan. But let's try and find a site before then.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And the air

          4  conditioning situation that was brought up earlier

          5  in this hearing, we have summer schools in our

          6  district that are not air conditioned, and I know

          7  that the cost is just astronomical in order to get

          8  all these schools operating with air conditioning

          9  capacity.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But where there

         12  is a summer school, it's my understanding that I

         13  thought those were the priorities.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's what

         15  we do. Obviously, we can't have every school open

         16  for the summer, so we have roughly over 500 sites,

         17  and the sites are reviewed in terms of is there air

         18  conditioning, at least some air conditioning

         19  available, and hopefully all schools have some air

         20  conditioning. That having been said, it doesn't mean

         21  on a really hot day it's not going to be hot in that

         22  school, but we just do not have the resources to air

         23  condition all of our schools.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

         25  this Five-year Capital Plan, is this going to be
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          2  addressed wherever there is a summer school siting

          3  for the school year so that it has the capacity, the

          4  appropriate capacity?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we do

          6  our best to select schools that have some air

          7  conditioning. Air conditioners themselves are not

          8  eligible for capital funding. Usually what happens

          9  is, if a school wants to buy an air conditioner, it

         10  can't plug it in because the wiring.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's correct.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's the

         13  capital component.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I completely

         15  understand. And, so, I'm trying to figure out, how

         16  does the capital plan address air conditioning in

         17  the situation where there are summer schools that

         18  exist? You know, if you have 100 plus year old

         19  building, and it doesn't have wiring capacity,

         20  obviously that's more than just a unit issue.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: It's a systems

         23  issue.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         25                 And we do not specifically address
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          2  those kinds of air conditioning concerns in this

          3  plan, because we decided as a matter of priority it

          4  was more important to build, for example, science

          5  labs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

          7                 And as far as the science labs are

          8  concerned, you mentioned 150 million additional

          9  dollars for the science labs?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Do you have a

         13  proposed list of schools where these science labs

         14  are going to be? And is this only in high schools?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We do have,

         16  it's middle schools and high schools, and I am sure

         17  we can provide you with the list.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'd appreciate

         19  that, because my schools are communicating to my

         20  office that they're in need for science labs. I

         21  don't know why or if there is a lack of

         22  communication between the schools and Department of

         23  Education; are they being told that they're not

         24  qualifying for these types of science labs? It's my

         25  understanding that there is also a requirement like
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          2  an eligibility requirement for these science labs;

          3  is that correct?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No. Like

          5  everything else, our needs are great and our

          6  resources are limited. So, what we have done is made

          7  a larger commitment to science labs, but even that

          8  probably won't address all of the science lab needs

          9  we have in the City, both in terms of schools simply

         10  not having them at all, or schools having science

         11  labs that were once wonderful but need upgrades in

         12  the 21st century.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Ms. Grimm, I

         14  just want to make sure that I'm understanding you

         15  correctly. You mentioned that there is no

         16  eligibility requirement.

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: No, there is no

         18  eligibility requirement. We review the needs

         19  annually, so if you have ideas, again, you should

         20  let us know.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I only ask

         22  because I have been told that there is. That there

         23  is an eligibility requirement in order to qualify to

         24  receive a science lab.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, would
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          2  you go back to that person and tell them to call me

          3  up?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

          5  that. I will do that. And I will communicate --

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: It is important to

          7  note we are looking at schools that do not have

          8  science labs first. So, if there is a school --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So there's a

         10  priority list.

         11                 MS. GREENBERGER: -- There's a

         12  priority list for those that do not have science

         13  labs. So, that's not an eligibility question, it's

         14  really looking at where we can put our resources in

         15  the places with the most need.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'll give you a

         17  situation. Where there is a school, you have an

         18  overcrowding issue, but they also have the need for

         19  a science lab because they have none. So, they

         20  become a priority on the science lab issue, but

         21  where do you put this science lab, because they also

         22  have an overcrowding issue.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That may be

         24  a school where we can't put a science lab, until we

         25  reduce the overcrowding issue.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And so that

          3  makes them ineligible.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, it's

          5  not so much they're ineligible, if they don't have

          6  the space, we can't do it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But that would

          8  be a way for me to not communicate a school that

          9  would have such a situation, because they would

         10  automatically not be able to receive a science lab.

         11  As much as I want them to have one and they need

         12  one, they won't --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You should

         14  talk to us about it anyway because, you know, we

         15  have people who can go out and take a look and maybe

         16  there is something we can do. So, don't ever hold

         17  back because you're afraid that there's some

         18  criteria that the numbers meet. Share it with us

         19  first.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Right.

         21                 In a situation where there is a

         22  campus, you know, we have all these office -- the

         23  Office of New Schools has created campuses, and so

         24  we have three schools in one building, or two

         25  schools in one building.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Would they

          4  qualify for a science lab each, or is this going to

          5  be a situation where the priority mandates one at

          6  least for the whole campus?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We would

          8  look at it each one on a case-by-case basis.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, each school

         10  will be evaluated not on a campus basis but on a

         11  school-by-school basis?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: More likely

         13  we would look at the building, we would look at our

         14  overall needs, and if we felt that one science lab,

         15  while not ideal, would fulfill the obligations of

         16  those principals, make sure that students were

         17  getting sufficient science experiment work, we might

         18  say we'll do one for this school so that we can

         19  build another science lab in another building. But,

         20  again, every building is different --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Sure.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: So it's a

         23  case-by-case basis.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: As far as the

         25  science labs are concerned, you mentioned that
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          2  you're going to forward us a list of the schools

          3  that are allocated for the 150 million?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we're

          5  going to forward you a list of the schools that have

          6  been selected for this year.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And that's in

          8  correspondence to the 150 million that you mentioned

          9  today?

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's a $50 million a

         11  year allocation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I see. So, 50

         13  this year, 50 next year and 50 the following year.

         14  So, it's a total of three-year commitment of 150

         15  million.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And this year's

         19  are all identified?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct,

         21  yes.

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER: For FY '07, yes. And

         23  we can share that with you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

         25  '08, that's still in the planification (phonetic)
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          2  stages?

          3                 MS. GREENBERGER: We're in process

          4  right now.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

          6                 And my last comment, I just wanted to

          7  thank you for addressing the El Puente High School

          8  issue. I know that the El Puente Academy is on its

          9  way for construction of a new site that you have

         10  leased. I'd like to thank Transfiguration Parish

         11  (phonetic) for having really come to the table in

         12  resolving this issue. It's my understanding that

         13  this summer, construction will begin I believe in

         14  June.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'd glad we

         16  worked that out.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes, me too.

         18                 I wanted to just make sure, Ms.

         19  Grimm, that when we're building up the school for

         20  the academy, that we go back to this whole cluster

         21  issue that we're not skimping out on a science lab

         22  for this particular school, that we're not skimping

         23  out on the arts, you know, that the cluster rooms

         24  are just as important as all the classroom spaces,

         25  and it is a small school so that it already meets
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          2  that mandate. We want to be able to reach the level

          3  of enrichment of it as well.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll work

          5  with you and do the best we can.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          8  Council member.

          9                 I believe Council Member Comrie had a

         10  brief question, and then I'm just going to turn it

         11  over to Chair Jackson for a quick wrap-up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         13  Chair Weprin and Jackson.

         14                 Good afternoon, Chancellor. I just

         15  wanted to ask you a question, since I didn't see it

         16  in the testimony. The Jamaica Rezoning Plan, which

         17  is on calendar, and scheduled for public hearing by

         18  City Planning on May 23rd, intimated that there are

         19  certain amount of seats that are supposed to be

         20  designated within 28 and 29, School Districts 28 and

         21  29. Can you give us an update? Or will you have a

         22  full assessment of sites ready by May 23rd for the

         23  siting of those seats?

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: We are working very

         25  closely right now with City Planning to address some
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          2  of these issues. I know some of our staff have been

          3  at each one of those public hearings, listening to

          4  the concerns and talking about what resources we

          5  allocated to those districts and we are having

          6  conversations with City Planning this week in the

          7  anticipation of that May 23rd hearing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And have

          9  you done any outreach to the community boards or

         10  anyone else about possible siting?

         11                 MS. GREENBERGER: I believe that we've

         12  been working with City Planning, again, to try to

         13  identify those sites and to work with people who may

         14  have ideas about what sites are there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aren't you

         16  supposed to have the sites designated by the

         17  adoption of the plan?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER: I'm not familiar

         19  with that. Again, we will look into it. As I said,

         20  we have having meetings this week with City

         21  Planning, so we'll certainly bring that issue to the

         22  table.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. But

         24  normally in a rezoning plan you're supposed to have

         25  the sites designated before the adoption of the
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          2  plan, or at least delineated, as far as possible

          3  locations are concerned.

          4                 I know that's been a major request of

          5  the community board, the Borough President, and it

          6  will be all the elected officials involved, as a

          7  request of the community to ensure --

          8                 MS. GREENBERGER: We will certainly

          9  follow up this week. The staff person who has been

         10  looking at that is actually in a hearing on the

         11  other side of the wall, so we'll follow-up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just left

         13  that hearing to come back here.

         14                 MS. GREENBERGER: Oh, okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: With Landmarks

         16  and school siting, which is a committee that I'm on,

         17  so I'm going to track this left, right and center,

         18  and I'd like to know and get an update from you as

         19  to where we are with site selection and exactly how

         20  many seats, and I'd appreciate being informed and

         21  giving you an opportunity to look at siting.

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER: Absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just one quick

         24  question. You had on this list PS 176 in District 29

         25  for playground paving, blacktop only. They need a
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          2  playground. What happened to the playground?

          3                 MS. GREENBERGER: I don't know what

          4  the specific scope of work is. I will certainly take

          5  a look and get back to you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Then you

          7  can get back to me on that. Thank you.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         10                 Chair Jackson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         12                 Well, let me just thank all three of

         13  you for coming in. And I know that there are many

         14  more questions that my colleagues will have, and we

         15  will obviously put those in writing to you. Sharon,

         16  the President of School Construction, thank you.

         17  Kathleen Grimm, Deputy Chancellor for Finance and

         18  Administration, thank you. And Jamie Smarr, the

         19  Executive Director for Education Construction Fund,

         20  I thank all three of you for coming. I just have

         21  three quick final questions, and I know they're very

         22  quick.

         23                 You talked about, Jamie, that the

         24  last project for the Educational Construction Fund

         25  was about 1979; what project was that?
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          2                 MR. SMARR: That was actually Park

          3  West High School, in Midtown East.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Park West High

          5  School, okay.

          6                 And as far as inflation, what was the

          7  inflation rate built into the Five-Year Capital

          8  Plan, if any? And what is the current inflation

          9  rate, considering that we're now going into the

         10  fourth year of the Five-Year Capital Plan? Because I

         11  know that construction costs and what have you have

         12  increased the amount of money, so...

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: When the plan was

         14  first adopted, we anticipated a three percent, and

         15  we included a three percent escalation rate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Three percent.

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: As of the February

         18  -- actually the November amendment, we increased

         19  that to five percent.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And that's where

         21  it currently is?

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER: We are holding it at

         23  five percent.

         24                 And as you know, different capital

         25  agencies have different escalation factors, some of
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          2  which are higher.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what's a

          4  cost factor of that two percent, give or take? How

          5  much money?

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: Oh, of the increase?

          7  I don't know that number off hand, we can look into

          8  it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But it's a

         10  two percent difference from what you've --

         11                 MS. GREENBERGER: Actually in the past

         12  we have been holding four percent for capacity

         13  projects and three percent for, as of last year for

         14  three percent for CIP, we increased both to five

         15  percent. So, in some instances it was a one percent

         16  increase and in some it's a two percent increase.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And the last

         18  question is, what about new schools and leased

         19  buildings? Are they being held to the same standards

         20  and requirements as new schools, actually building a

         21  new school? Meaning that gyms, auditoriums and all

         22  of the things that are in necessary for in schools?

         23  Because I know that when we're talking about leased

         24  space, we're talking about leases of what, ten, 15,

         25  20 years, when we talk about leased spaces?
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          2                 MS. GREENBERGER: In some instances,

          3  yes. And we ensure that we have the same resources

          4  in leased buildings as we do in built buildings. If

          5  you look at the Bathgate Complex, for example, it

          6  has one of the largest and most well utilized

          7  multi-purpose rooms that's used for educational

          8  purposes, auditorium purposes and gathering

          9  purposes, and some of the other lease capacity

         10  projects that are out to bid right now, we have

         11  similar functions within the schools, because we

         12  apply the same design standards to leased versus

         13  newly constructed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The same siting

         15  standards?

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: The same program of

         17  requirement standards.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Program of

         19  requirements?

         20                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: For a school.

         22  So, that means auditorium, gym, or a combination

         23  auditorium slash --

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: Generally

         25  multi-purpose room which can serve multiple
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          2  functions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In the leased

          4  space?

          5                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Versus a real

          7  gym in a brand new building?

          8                 MS. GREENBERGER: In some of the

          9  other, in some of the new spaces again, depending on

         10  the size, we do the same thing. We have a

         11  multi-purpose room that can serve multiple

         12  functions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. And what

         14  about as far as in lease spaces, the green

         15  standards, the same thing since the law was passed?

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: Since the law was

         17  passed, all applicable applica -- yes, will have to

         18  be in compliance the same way.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         20  thank you all for coming in, and we look forward to

         21  working with you right now and in the future. And I

         22  have made a note to follow up on those meetings,

         23  especially with the whole situation in the Bronx.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I look

         25  forward to it. Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

          3  much. Have a good day, everyone.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. We're

          5  going to take a two-minute recess and we will

          6  reconvene joint with the Committee on General

          7  Welfare and hear from the Commissioner of HRA.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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